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President’s report

Confidently moving 
forward

This year has been one of consolidation as we navigated 
the disruptions of 2020-2021. Following on from last year’s 
successful CHINWAG events, designed to keep PLHIV 
connected during the COVID lockdowns, this year NAPWHA 
continued its leadership in this space by advocating. Firstly 
to secure priority access to vaccines for positive people 
(as part of 1b of the vaccine rollout); and then to ensure 
immune compromised people could access third doses of 
the vaccine at the earliest possible opportunity.

Developing our skills
One focus, this year, has been on training and development 
to enhance the skills of the Board in acquitting our 
governance and oversight functions. 

We met in May in Sydney for a planning meeting. It was 
the Board’s first face-to-face in over twelve months. Jo 
Watson gave a historical account of the governance changes 
the organisation has implemented over the years, and its 
evolution into the National Association that we are familiar 
with today. Skye McGregor, Epidemiologist from the Kirby 
Institute presented on the HIV surveillance data for the last 
two years. The Board spent considerable time grappling with 
the likely effects of COVID on HIV transmission rates, and 
how this should be reflected in NAPWHA’s future strategic 
direction. Heath Paynter, Deputy CEO of AFAO, spoke about 
the important partnership between our organisations, and 
our achievements. Susan Culverston, ACON’s Director of 
Financial Services, spent the morning undertaking financial 
governance training for old and new Board members alike. 
Susan expertly refreshed the Board’s understanding of their 

financial oversight role and responsibilities, the relationship 
between strategy and financial management, how to read 
and interpret financial reports and other budgetary matters. 
Brent Allan presented the preliminary results of the MIPA/
GIPA audit ahead of the delivery of that report to the 
NAPWHA membership.

Reviews and 
refinements
The MIPA/GIPA audit represents the delivery of a 
long-term goal of the Board. Brent Allan from QThink 
Consulting undertook the audit on our behalf. NAPWHA 
evaluated extremely well, as is to be expected, with a 
strong commitment to GIPA/MIPA principles and the 
centrality of the positive voice. The audit also revealed an 
enthusiastic membership closely engaged with the work of 
the organisation. However, the audit also identified areas 
for improvement and the Board has already commenced 
implementing its recommendations. The creation of several 
new NAPWHA Networks and the development of the work 
of existing ones is part of this process.

The Board has also identified that the Rules of the 
Association need an extensive update. While they have 
served us well, the Rules were written for a different time. 
A few of the areas we are committed to reviewing in 2022 
include the way we: represent PLHIV in Australia; run 
elections in a digital age; hold General Meetings and Board 
meetings; and how we resolve disputes in the membership. 
We anticipate that proposed changes will be brought to the 
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membership at the Special General Meeting in quarter two 
of next year.

The NAPWHA Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) is another 
piece of strategic delivery work that was progressed this 
year. Rob Monaghan, the Director of Monaghan Dreaming 
and the Manager of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Health and Research at the Kirby institute, has now begun 
the development process on behalf of the Board; after an 
extensive COVID-related delay. A steering committee has 
been formed consisting of two members from PATSIN, two 
members of the Board, two staff members and the Executive 
Director. The group has met to begin phase one of the RAP 
development, which is an assessment of the involvement of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in the work of 
the Association.

Frustratingly, the Strategic Plan was again delayed. Lisa 
Ryan has consulted widely and develop a promising first 
draft. However, much work remains to be done. COVID made 
significant demands on the resources of the organisation 
in 2020/2021 and the Strategic Plan was a casualty of 
this. Finalising the plan will be a key priority for the Board 
in 2022. In the meantime, the organisation continues to 
operate under our very comprehensive previous Strategic 
Plan. The delay does have at least one silver lining. The 
9th National HIV Strategy is currently under development 
and the opportunity therefore exists to align the NAPWHA 
Strategic Plan closely with the strategy both in objectives 
and timelines.

Tributes and thanks
This year, after 16 years, Kath Leane stepped down from 
the position of Convenor of NAPWHA’s National Network 
of Women Living with HIV. It is impossible to quantify 
Kath’s enormous contribution to improving the lives of 
HIV positive women in Australia. Amongst many, many 
important pieces of work, Kath championed the famous 
‘Give your vagina a choice’ campaign for better access 
to the female condom in Australia. Her work towards a 
breastfeeding statement of guidance for women with HIV 
in Australia was unwavering over the many years it took to 
reach an outcome. Kath also oversaw the recent restructure 
of the Network and the expansion of the membership. Our 
Association is immeasurably better for her efforts. The 
Board thanks her for her extraordinary dedication to HIV 
positive women and to NAPWHA. Over the coming year, the 
women’s network will continue its restructure, revitalisation, 
and membership drive; with a new Terms of Reference to be 

agreed upon very soon.

David Menadue has also stepped down as NAPWHA’s 
appointee to the AFAO Board, after an extraordinary 
tenure of thirteen years. In this time, David has dutifully 
maintained a vital communication pathway between the two 
Boards and between both organisations. His diplomacy has 
contributed to the close and effective partnership that we 
currently enjoy with the Federation, and we thank him for 
his dedication to this important work. 

Exciting developments
Last year, the Board took the important decision to commit 
resources, together with Thorne Harbour Health, to 
enable the recruitment of an HIV peer navigator for South 
Australia. This work has progressed, Positive Life South 
Australia participated in the recruitment process (which is 
now complete) and it is with great pleasure that I can report 
that the South Australian HIV peer navigator is now in 
place. 

NAPWHA is committed to peer navigation as an effective 
model of service delivery for HIV positive people and 2022 
will see further developments in this area of work. These will 
include the launch of the Peer Navigators Online Training 
Modules and the strengthening of the NAPWHA National 
Network of Peer Navigators.

Stigma has emerged as a key priority for the year ahead. 
Professor Carla Treloar from the Centre for Social Research 
in Health spent significant time with the NAPWHA Board 
and membership in the past year to help us understand how 
best to approach this most persistent and challenging of 
barriers to quality of life for people with HIV. This work will 
be invaluable to guide our contributions to, and priorities 
for, the consultation on the 9th National HIV strategy in this 
coming year. 

In 2022, the Positive Leadership Development Institute 
(PLDI) course will be refreshed and renewed. I would like to 
thank Richard Keene at LPV for his dedication to ensuring 
that this important project has persisted through difficult 
times. NAPWHA is committed to the course and is excited 
about the course re-fresh which will equip the PLDI with the 
locally developed content it needs to build resilience and 
shape the HIV positive leaders of the future. The next phase 
of development gets underway in the early part of next year 
and NAPWHA will support it wherever we can. 



Closing thanks
I want to thank the NAPWHA staff for their incredible 
commitment to the organisation during another arduous 
year. Their talent and dedication inspire us all in the work 
we do. Similarly, I want to thank the membership for their 
unwavering support for the Association and to our common 
goal of improving the lives of all PLHIV in Australia.

I am happy to report that COVID has had a beneficial 
effect on the finances of the organisation that positions 
us well to rebound. As life transitions back to ‘normal’, the 
organisation is set to remedy the COVID-related delays of 
2020/2021, and we are well positioned to face whatever 
2022 brings.

I look forward to 2022 with a sense of optimism and 
excitement as we learn the lessons of COVID, apply them to 

improve how we work, and leave behind the difficulties of 
the past two years.

Sarah Feagan 
Acting President

The Board met for a rare face-to-face meeting this year. Pictured from left: Steve Spencer (Director), Michael Brown (Director), Chris 
Howard (Secretary-Treasurer), Danny Ryding (Director), Diane Lloyd (Director), Scott Harlum (President), Aaron Cogle (Executive Director) 
and Sarah Feagan (Vice-President). Absent: Stephen Lunny (Director).
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Executive Director’s report

Building back better

This year was again lived under the shadow of the COVID-19 
pandemic. Unavoidably, this impacted on the work of 
the organisation; both in what we delivered and how we 
delivered it. Nevertheless, in Newtown where the NAPWHA 
offices are located, most of the last year was reasonably 
unaffected by the lockdowns happening in other parts of 
the country. This afforded us a level of freedom to work as a 
team from the office, which was a welcome relief.  Working 
from home arrangements were also made more flexible for 
those staff wishing to work remotely. This is a change which 
will likely persist in the post-Covid world we are now moving 
into.

Financially secure
Reduced outgoings resulting from switching face-to-face to 
online meetings has produced significant savings; as did the 
Board’s sage decision to pay off the mortgage early. Income 
is also up this year with the final government stimulus 
payments and new contract variations agreed with the 
Commonwealth Department of Health. This will see our 
Health Protection Activity contract increased and extended. 

We await a decision from our recent application to the 
National Peaks’ funding round which, if successful, will see 
our Peak funding renewed. Looking forward, this current 
financial year will see an increase in the amount of grant 
funding we receive from our pharmaceutical company 
partners. 

If, as many are predicting, a period of austerity is on 
approach then we are in a solid position to face any 
eventuality with confidence in our capacity to support the 
needs of our members and PLHIV in Australia.

Building back
Delays in the contract renegotiation process affected many 
organisations this year and we thank our Commonwealth 
colleagues for their hard work under demanding 
circumstances to get our contracts prepared and finalised. 
These delays, and the general COVID disruption still 
affecting the nation, have meant that timelines have been 
pushed back on some items in our activity plan. However, 
we are well placed to make fast progress now that we are 
transitioning back to a less restricted way of working. 

I’m happy to report that our current financial position is 
enabling us to invest in additional staffing and our current 
activity plan will allow us to extend the life of certain 
important projects (notably the Health Literacy Framework 
and the HIV Peer Navigator Training) into the next financial 
year.

Policy
This year saw a significant amount of policy advocacy from 
NAPWHA at the national level. 

Of note was the NAPWHA/Scarlet Alliance submission 
to the Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet on the 
extremely concerning Data Availability and Transparency 
Bill 2020 Exposure Draft in which we advocated for a more 
transparent data sharing and management system with more 
robust protections, individual sovereignty over personal 
data, a prohibition on taxpayer exploitation, a prohibition 
on sending data overseas, and the ability to complain and 
access compensation in the event of a data breach. 



We also partnered with Living Positive Victoria to make 
a submission to the Victorian government’s inquiry into 
the use of cannabis in that state. Here we argued for the 
decriminalisation of cannabis possession, the establishment 
of a regulated market and the expunging of previous 
cannabis-related convictions. 

We made submissions to the TGA and PBAC in relation to 
the first long-acting injectable ARV to enter the market in 
Australia. 

We built upon our previous successful work advocating for 
priority access to vaccinations for PLHIV by working with 
ATAGI to ensure that immune compromised PLHIV received 
priority access to a third vaccination dose. 

Finally, we worked extensively with the Commonwealth 
Department of Health, the Parliamentary Friends of Action 

on HIV Committee, and the Commonwealth Minister for 
Health’s office to lay the groundwork for what we hope 
will be a successful delivery of Minister Hunt’s previous 
commitment to find a solution to the problem of ARV 
access for Medicare ineligible PLHIV in Australia.

We were closely involved in the development of Agenda 2025, 
AFAO’s proposed plan to the Commonwealth to end HIV 
transmission in Australia. NAPWHA President, Scott Harlum 
and Deputy Director, Adrian Ogier attended the launch in 
Canberra in April 2021 to show NAPWHA’s support.

HIV Online Learning Australia (HOLA), the NAPWHA/
AFAO partnership project, also rolled out this year. It has 
been a great success to date and holds much potential to be 
realised in the coming year.

Acknowledge
I want to thank the NAPWHA staff team, of whom 
I am incredibly proud, for bearing up under difficult 
circumstances this year and maintaining the high quantity 
and quality work that NAPWHA is known for. 

I also want to thank the Board for their unwavering support 
and for providing the clear strategic direction and oversight 
that challenging times require. 

This year, two additional staff members joined the NAPWHA team. We welcomed Eloise Monteiro as our Campaigns & Community 
Engagement Officer and Jimmy Chen as a Community Advocate for the Positive Asian Network Australia. Brent Clifton also joined the 
team later in 2021, as Senior Project Officer. They all bring an excellent work experience and wealth of knowledge in the HIV sector. 
(Photography by John McCrae).

https://www.johnmcrae.com/
https://hola.org.au/#/login
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Responding to COVID-19

Taking the Temperature of the Association interviews were conducted including  Richard Keane (Executive Officer) and Anthony 
McCarthy (HIV Peer Navigator) from Living Positive Victoria, Dr Kirsten Machon (Executive Officer) of Positive Women Victoria, and 
Hayden Patterson (Member) of Positive Life South Australia – all of whom provided excellent clues about personal, professional, and 
organisational management strategies during a difficult time.

Since the start of the COVID-19 epidemic, NAPWHA 
has been responding to its impact on our membership 
organisations and the HIV positive population in Australia.

In the second half of 2020, against a backdrop of Victoria 
experiencing a prolonged lock-down period, we produced 
a series of videos called Taking the Temperature of the 
Association. The information shared in that video series 
would prove invaluable to others around the country during 
2021. 

Our National Research Manager, Dr John Rule represented 
NAPWHA on the ASHM COVID-19 Taskforce and 
helped influence the important Statement Regarding the 
Prioritisation of COVID-19 Vaccines for People living with 
HIV.

We worked with the Commonwealth Department of Health 
and the ATAGI group to ensure vaccine eligibility for PLHIV 
in the early phases of the vaccine roll-out. NAPWHA 
then provided feedback to the Commonwealth to ensure 
that unnecessary disclosures of HIV status were kept to 
a minimum as PLHIV accessed their vaccinations, and we 
closely monitored the situation as the rollout progressed. 

Providing clear vaccine information to members has been 
a priority, and NAPWHA responded rapidly in March 
2021 by producing informational videos featuring PLHIV 
talking directly with our top clinicians and scientists. This 
“question and answer” format helped translate complicated 
information in ways that all PLHIV could understand. These 
videos feature on a regularly updated NAPWHA webpage – 
napwha.org.au/covid-19-vaccine/ 

https://napwha.org.au/taking-the-temperature-richard
https://napwha.org.au/taking-the-temperature-anth
https://napwha.org.au/taking-the-temperature-anth
https://napwha.org.au/taking-the-temperature-kirsty
https://napwha.org.au/taking-the-temperature-hayden/
https://www.ashm.org.au/covid-19/clinical-care/statement-regarding-the-prioritisation-of-covid-19-vaccines/
https://www.ashm.org.au/covid-19/clinical-care/statement-regarding-the-prioritisation-of-covid-19-vaccines/
https://www.ashm.org.au/covid-19/clinical-care/statement-regarding-the-prioritisation-of-covid-19-vaccines/
https://napwha.org.au/covid-19-vaccine/


Chris Howard (Executive Programs Manager of Queensland Positive 
People) interviewed Dr Darren Russell (Director of Sexual Health, 
Cairns Sexual Health, Queensland) on 17 March 2021 on a significant 
day of the Australian COVID-19 vaccine roll-out (Phase 1A and 1B). 
Adam Ehm (former President of Living Positive Victoria) spoke with 

Dr James McMahon (Infectious Diseases Physician at The Alfred 
Hospital); and Dr John Rule (Senior Research Manager at NAPWHA) 
consulted Professor Sharon Lewin (Director of The Peter Doherty 
Institute for Infection and Immunity, University of Melbourne).

With Australia in varying degrees of lock-down, we invited our 
communities, including healthcare and community health workers, 
to a one-hour information and support session – Under the Strain 
on 6 July 2021. The webinar was supplemented by important 

clinical and scientific information regarding the ongoing vaccine 
roll-out for people with HIV in a pre-recorded interview between 
Sarah Feagan (NAPWHA Vice President) and Professor Jennifer 
Hoy (HIV Clinical Director of Alfred Health).

Heather Ellis (Positive Women Victoria) speaks to Dr Dean Murphy 
(Alfred Health, Victoria) about VAX-PLORE Study of which 
NAPWHA is a co-investigator. The study now includes a strong 
cohort of PLHIV and information from the study that will inform 
future interventions in this area. Study findings to be presented 
at the 2021 Virtual Australasian HIV&AIDS Conference and 
published directly via the regularly updated NAPWHA webpage – 
napwha.org.au/what-we-do/research/.

When the Delta variant emerged, NAPWHA responded 
by hosting a webinar Under the Strain. The panel of 
people living with HIV and health-care professionals 
shared information about good coping strategies for 
mental health and also spoke about vaccines, the 
changing vaccine rollout, and what we knew about new 
viral strains.

NAPWHA became a co-investigator on the VAX-PLORE 
study investigating how PLHIV feel about COVID-19 
vaccines, as well as their experiences of and opinions 
about the pandemic generally.

https://napwha.org.au/under-the-strain/
https://www.alfredhealth.org.au/research/research-areas/infectious-diseases-research/vax-plore-study
https://napwha.org.au/what-we-do/research/
https://napwha.org.au/under-the-strain/


11Annual Report  |  2020 - 2021

Members forums

Two full-day Members Forums were held during this period, 
one attached to the AGM in November 2020 and another 
in May 2021. Both forums were held via Zoom and the 
agendas included updates and information requested by the 
NAPWHA Board and membership.

 

Demonstrating NAPWHA’s large reach and diverse 
communities, attendance at both meetings was substantial. 
Those attending included NAPWHA Board directors, 
member and network representatives, member organisation 
CEOs, and some individual PLHIV (as observers). 

Webinars and interviews

Chinwag: Positive Connection, featuring our hostess Vanessa 
Wagner, entertained, informed, and helped PLHIV around the 
country to connect during the 2020 COVID lockdowns. After 
a successful 12-session run, NAPWHA Project Officer Charlie 
Tredway presented an Impact of COVID-19 on PLHIV Survey 
Report. Charlie also delivered an all-welcome Chinwag at the 2020 
Virtual Australasian HIV and Sexual Health Conference. The 
following March 2021, we returned with a special Vaccine Edition 
of Chinwag featuring Associate Professor Edwina Wright. 

The Future of Peer Practice was a webinar held on 3 December 
2020 which celebrated the launch of the NAPWHA Australian 
HIV Peer Support Standards with a lively discussion on the 
future of peer support practices in HIV and sexual health.

As part of the NAPWHA Health Literacy Framework project, 
an online community forum was moderated by Heather Ellis. 
Heather is a co-author of the Breastfeeding for women living with 
HIV in Australia resource which was developed in collaboration 
with NAPWHA, our National Network of Women Living with 
HIV and Positive Women Victoria. This community resource 
was developed to be used in conjunction with the clinical 
resource, The Optimal Scenario and Context of Care (Guidance 
for the care of women living with HIV in Australia who are 
considering infant feeding options) produced by ASHM to be 
published in September 2021.

Over the past year, NAPWHA increased our production of 
video interviews and facilitation of webinars to connect 
community to the best information and support available. 

NAPWHA’s Learning Projects Officer, Daniel Reeders led 
the development of an online seminar series bringing 
findings from NAPWHA’s peer projects to a wider audience 
of PLHIV and affected communities. 

https://napwha.org.au/agm20-report-back/
https://napwha.org.au/chinwag-positive-connection/
http://napwha.org.au/the-impact-of-covid-19-on-plhiv-survey-report/
http://napwha.org.au/the-impact-of-covid-19-on-plhiv-survey-report/
https://hivshconferences2020.com.au/
https://hivshconferences2020.com.au/
https://napwha.org.au/the-future-of-peer-practice/
https://napwha.org.au/hiv-peer-support-standards/
https://napwha.org.au/hiv-peer-support-standards/
https://napwha.org.au/health-literacy-framework/
https://napwha.org.au/breastfeeding-for-women-living-with-hiv-online-forum/
https://napwha.org.au/breastfeeding-community-resource-launched/
https://napwha.org.au/breastfeeding-community-resource-launched/
https://www.ashm.org.au/HIV/breastfeeding/


Learning at NAPWHA

Daniel also progressed work on our HIV 101 project 
this year. This project consists of two vitally important 
resources; one for GPs who are about to deliver an HIV 
diagnosis and another resource for people who have just 
received one.

Online learning resources on the NAPWHA Learning platform. 

Four ‘virtual hugs’ video messages were created by community 
members thriving with HIV, for people who have just received a 
new diagnosis. ‘The video messages talk about what you might 
be feeling, what to expect, and where you can find support”.

On 26 March 2021, NAPWHA hosted an interactive webinar 
session discussing data from the ViiV Positive Perspectives 
2 (PP2) study. The study provided insights into the unmet 
needs of PLHIV. It is one of the largest HIV patient-reported 
outcomes studies involving 2,389 PLHIV across 25 countries. 
Over sixty people logged on to hear study findings presented 
by Dr Ben Young from ViiV Healthcare and Consultant Brent 
Allan. 

A townhall-style session, in partnership with The Institute 
of Many, was delivered in June. Attendees heard from five 
panellists engaging with Positive Perspectives 2 findings and 
speaking about their own lived experience. The session was 
followed up with a virtual symposium Are we on-track to 
achieve Quality of Life for All by 2030?, which was held at the 
2021 Virtual Australasian HIV and Sexual Health Conference.

https://napwha.org.au/hiv-101/
https://learning.napwha.org.au/courses/newly-diagnosed/
https://learning.napwha.org.au/courses/newly-diagnosed/
https://napwha.org.au/positive-perspectives-2-survey-australia/
https://napwha.org.au/positive-perspectives-2-survey-australia/
https://napwha.org.au/tim-town-hall-june-2021/
https://napwha.org.au/positive-perspectives-2-survey-australia/
https://napwha.org.au/are-we-on-track-to-achieve-quality-of-life-for-all-by-2030/
https://napwha.org.au/are-we-on-track-to-achieve-quality-of-life-for-all-by-2030/
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In the next phase of the project, NAPWHA plans to partner 
with a pathology network who will pilot the project by 
delivering a link to the resources along with all HIV positive 
pathology reports; supplying GPs with the information they 
need about how to deliver an effective and compassionate 
HIV diagnosis, exactly when they need it. 

NAPWHA is also working with members of PATSIN (the 
Positive Aboriginal Torres Strait Islander Network) to 
develop a training module for Aboriginal health workers so 
they can partner with HIV peer navigators to better support 
clients who have received a recent HIV diagnosis.

The HIV Peer Navigator Training Program is a nationally 
consistent set of training modules for new HIV peer navigators. 
The training development is nearing completion and it will be 
piloted in the coming year. It will enhance the ability of peer 
navigators to assist PLHIV to make the most of the clinical, 
social care and support services available.

The HIV Peer Navigator Training Program contains modules such 
as HIV Basics, Self Work and Client Work. A fourth module is 
under development and will focus on organisation work, safety, 
and partnerships. We anticipate enrolling a beta cohort to trial 
and give feedback on the learning modules in early 2022.

Social media

Charlie Tredway, our Social Media Project Officer, has grown 
NAPWHA’s online presence effectively in the last year 
and we can now boast 1,306 Facebook followers, as well as 
sustained engagement with our posts and initiatives.  

One of the highlights from this period has been the powerful 
HIV is Just a Part of Me video series. Featured in these 10 
online videos were Justin Xiao, Steve Spencer, Natasha Io, 
Michelle Tobin, Jane Costello, and John Rule. Each shared their 
personal stories and insights about what it means to live and 
thrive with HIV today. 

NAPWHA's elevated online presence enabled timely 
provision of important information at various stages of the 
COVID response. It was also a key communication channel 
for the provision of information about vaccines and how 
important they are for PLHIV in Australia. 

The World AIDS Day 2020 Now More Than Ever series featured 
25 community leaders sharing their calls to action for the 
future of the HIV response. This series secured the most online 
engagement of any NAPWHA project to-date (with over 9,000 
interactions). 

https://napwha.org.au/about-us/patsin/
https://learning.napwha.org.au/all-courses/
https://napwha.org.au/hiv-is-just-a-part-of-me/
https://napwha.org.au/world-aids-day-2020/


Positive Living magazine

NAPWHA published five articles for Positive Living during 
this period. Of note was one on the impact of the miniseries 
It’s A Sin on people living with HIV and, another on U=U 
in sero-discordant relationships (which had an impressive 
1,684 interactions). 

In the coming year we will be taking a detailed look at 

40 years of HIV in 
Australia, as told by 
community members, 
through the recounting 
of personal experiences 
of seroconverting during 
each of the four decades. 

Research at NAPWHA 

In the past 12 months, NAPWHA’s profile in research 
engagement has grown, thanks to the work of our National 
Research Manager, Dr John Rule. 

This year NAPWHA was engaged as an advisor, community 
collaborator, research partner or co-investigator on a 
number of important national studies, including:

• The Stigma Indicators Monitoring Project 

• The Trust in Digital Health Study

• The Rise Study – exploring the experiences of those 
recently diagnosed

• The H 2Seq: Viral genomics for public health 
interventions in HIV and HCV 

• The HIV Futures Study – now in its tenth round of 
surveying the lives of PLHIV

• The PozQol Study – valuing quality of life among PLHIV

• The VAX-PLORE Study – investigating how people feel 
about COVID-19 vaccines

Dr John Rule talks about quality of life for people living with 
HIV, and the importance of having a PozQoL scale instrument 
that can measure the diverse experiences of people living 
with HIV. The instrument can be used by PLHIV community 
organisations, researchers and health services alike.

On 17 August 2021, Carla Treloar facilitated a seminar for the 
UNSW Centre for Social Research in Health (UNSW Sydney) 
as part of the Spotlight on Stigma series with presenters 
including NAPWHA ED, Aaron Cogle.

https://napwha.org.au/about-positive-living/
https://napwha.org.au/positive/positive-responses-to-its-a-sin/
https://napwha.org.au/positive/uu-serodiscordant-relationship/
https://napwha.org.au/positive/uu-serodiscordant-relationship/
https://napwha.org.au/positive/40-years-of-hiv-in-australia-1980s-1990s/
https://napwha.org.au/positive/40-years-of-hiv-in-australia-1980s-1990s/
https://www.pozqol.org/
https://napwha.org.au/spotlight-on-stigma/
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The next phase of the NAPWHA Research Initiative has 
commenced thanks to a small grant received in July 2021. 
This initiative aims to build research literacy across the 
NAPWHA membership, improve community representative 
capacity, and to identify gaps in research knowledge. 

Many individuals showed great generosity this year in their 
support of NAPWHA’s research endeavours. NAPWHA 
thanks everyone who, like us, recognises the real value and 
benefits of HIV community participation in research.

Treatment Outreach Network 

The NAPWHA Treatment Outreach Network (TON) has 
been operating for twenty years and over this time, HIV 
treatments have became simpler and the clinical issues 
around their use less complex. However, this is changing.

The impact of ageing, multi-morbidities and polypharmacy 
on the health of positive people is a relatively new subject 
area that we still do not know enough about. Further, the 
development of new treatments, of two drug regimens and 
injectable formulations has reintroduced complexity into 
considerations about appropriate drug regimens. Emerging 
issues such as drug related weight gain are adding to this.

The twice-yearly TON meetings enable attendees to explore 
these and other issues. They also function as a way of 
disseminating correct information to PLHIV organisational 
staff whose responsibility it is to impart health and 
treatments information to their HIV positive clients. 

In response to the request of TON members, in the last 
half of 2020, HIV specialists, including Associate Professor 
Edwina Wright, briefed the network on the impact of 
COVID-19 on people with HIV. 

Neil MacKellar-Stewart undertook a review of the TON 
this year and presented it to the network in April. The 
usefulness of the group was clear. Members agreed that 
the work of the network should be expanded through a 
‘community of practice’ model which will allow for wider 
dissemination of important TON information.

In March 2021, NAPWHA ED, Aaron Cogle, as part of the 
Kirby Institute Seminar Series, presented: Beyond the 
Meaningful Involvement of people living with HIV in Research. 
The presentation was developed with extensive input from 
NAPWHA’s HIV positive research experts and others.

NAPWHA maintains close research partnerships with:

• Centre for Social Research in Health (UNSW Sydney)

• Kirby Institute (UNSW Sydney)

• Australian Research Centre in Sex Health and Society 
(La Trobe University, Melbourne) 

• Australian Centre for HIV Virology Research (ACH2)

In the last year NAPWHA also strengthened our 
partnerships with:

• Doherty Institute

• Alfred Health (Monash University, Victoria)

• University of Queensland 

• Curtin University (WA) 

https://napwha.org.au/beyond-mipa-in-hiv-related-research/
https://napwha.org.au/beyond-mipa-in-hiv-related-research/


Positive Workforce Policy Officers 

NAPWHA continues to host a bi-monthly meeting of policy 
staff from NAPWHA, Living Positive Victoria, Positive Life 
NSW, Positive Women Victoria and Queensland Positive 
People. This provides the opportunity for organisations to 
share policy work and encourage collaboration. 

Key areas of discussion this year included: the Mandatory 
Testing laws and our efforts to contain them; access to 
ARVs for people in Australia who are ineligible for Medicare; 
the COVID-19 lock-downs; and vaccine responses for 
PLHIV.

Health Literacy Framework

The three-year HIV Health Literacy Framework (HLF) 
project continued activities into its final year with the 
recruitment of two new Community Advocates. 

Community Advocates Emma Sheldon-Collins, Sarah Feagan, 
Anth McCarthy and Cristian Cortes (out of frame) met with 
Saysana Sirimanotham (NAPWHA HLF Project Coordinator) 
and Daniel Reeders (NAPWHA Learnings Officer) for a mid-
project stocktake and planning day in March 2021.

The initial project pilot focused on women living with HIV 
in Australia. The project’s second and third year expanded 
to other groups of positive people, including positive 
heterosexual men, positive Asian and Latinx people. This 
year the project also developed breastfeeding guidance for 
women living with HIV and worked with PATSIN to develop 
plans for a support phone line.

The framework’s objectives are to improve health literacy 
in sections of the HIV positive community that previously 
have been under-served and to improve NAPWHA’s ability 
to better respond to their needs.

Community Advocates, Sarah Feagan and Diane Lloyd, 
reported back to NAPWHA members at the Special General 
Meeting (May 2021) on the work of the HLF.

March 2021, in Perth, Diane Lloyd reports back at a NDWLHIV 
women‘s brunch, the results of semi-structured interviews 
on health literacy that were held throughout 2020 (in both 
Brisbane and Perth).

https://napwha.org.au/health-literacy-framework/
https://napwha.org.au/health-literacy-framework/
https://napwha.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/20210131_NAPWHA_HLF2020_Consultation_WA-QLD-Women-Interviews_v3.pdf
https://napwha.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/20210131_NAPWHA_HLF2020_Consultation_WA-QLD-Women-Interviews_v3.pdf
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Community Advocate, Precious Mapfumo who was 
instrumental in the development of Strategies to engage with 
culturally and linguistically diverse women.  Sarah Feagan reports back from the 2019 conference in the 

video series Let Women Talk.

Heather Ellis moderates an online community forum on 
Breastfeeding for women living with HIV in Australia with 
Melania Mugamu (QPP), Kate Bath (ASHM) and Dr Fiona 
Bisshop.

Rita Broughton speaks with Cipri Martinez as part of a 
positive panel for the Optimising Care 2021 webinar series for 
healthcare providers.

Participants at a women’s health workshop in Darwin in 
March 2021.  Facilitated by Community Advocates Sarah 
Feagan, Giovanna Webb, and Dr Manoji Gunathilakeh. Held 
in partnership with NTAHC.

Emma Sheldon-Collins, Community Advocate on the HIV ARV 
Guidelines Session at 2020 Australasian HIV & Sexual Health 
Conference.

https://napwha.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/NAPWHA_HLF2021_Consultation-HIV-health-literacy-strategies-for-CALD-women_REPORT.pdf
https://napwha.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/NAPWHA_HLF2021_Consultation-HIV-health-literacy-strategies-for-CALD-women_REPORT.pdf
https://napwha.org.au/let-women-talk-with-carole-khaw/
https://napwha.org.au/breastfeeding-for-women-living-with-hiv-online-forum/
https://napwha.org.au/breastfeeding-community-resource-launched/
http://www.optimisingcare.com.au/
https://player.vimeo.com/video/480984964
https://player.vimeo.com/video/480984964


In collaboration with Positive 
Women Victoria, NAPWHA 
launched a new community 
resource entitled Breastfeeding 
for women living with HIV In 
Australia. This community 
resource compliments new 
guidance for healthcare providers 
from ASHM: the Optimal Scenario 
and Context of Care.

Through the project, NAPWHA also supported the 
development and establishment of an advocacy network 
for Positive Heterosexual men in Australia, called HetMAN 
(Heterosexual Men Australia Network).

New NAPWHA recruit, Jimmy Yu-Hsiang Chen, conducted 
two Community Conversations in May this year. Overseas-
born Asian men living with HIV were invited to share their 
experiences and the challenges they face. The Positive 
Asian Network Australia (PANA) was formed as a direct 
response. 

PANA’s first project was to work with Dr Jennifer Power at 
ARCSHS to co-design a qualitative study to capture 
overseas-born Asian men's experiences as part of HIV 
Futures 10. The network's second project is to establish a 
social group on Facebook to encourage information-
sharing and community support.

Jimmy Chen 

Community Advocate, Anth McCarthy, reports back to NAPWHA 
members at the Special General Meeting in May 2021. 

https://napwha.org.au/join-community-conversations/
https://napwha.org.au/breastfeeding-community-resource-launched/
https://napwha.org.au/resource/breastfeeding/
https://napwha.org.au/resource/breastfeeding/
https://napwha.org.au/resource/breastfeeding/
https://www.ashm.org.au/HIV/breastfeeding/
https://www.ashm.org.au/HIV/breastfeeding/
https://napwha.org.au/about-us/hetman/
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Positive Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander 
Network (PATSIN)

In 2021, a PATSIN Working Group was established to 
develop an Indigenous HIV peer shared-care model. The 
model aims to promote culturally safe and effective care 
for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people living with 
HIV. It involves developing HIV training for Aboriginal 
Health Workers and training for HIV Peer Navigators in 
cultural safety. 

We will also develop a phone call-back service 
where Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
living with HIV can speak with a peer.  

National Network of Women Living with HIV 

This year, Katherine Leane, who chaired the Network for 
nearly twenty years, decided to step down. In her time, Kath 
oversaw the delivery of numerous, important initiatives of 
the Network such at the development of the National Day of 
Women Living with HIV and the ‘Give your Vagina a Choice’ 
campaign for more affordable access to the female condom. 
We thank her for her years of devoted service and look 
forward to Kath remaining involved with the Network.

The Living Well: Women with HIV website from 2015 is currently 
being redesigned and updated. We look forward to a launch later in 
2021. 

In June and July 2021, co-facilitated by Community Advocate Cristian Cortes and Oscar Sanchez, two Spanish Language Community 
Conversations were conducted with Latinx community members living with HIV to better understand their experiences and challenges.
The project is supporting the establishment of the Positive Latin American Network (PLAN) Latinx Australia, an advocacy group.

https://napwha.org.au/about-us/patsin/
http://www.womenlivingwell.org.au/
https://napwha.org.au/join-community-conversations/
https://napwha.org.au/join-community-conversations/


Office arrangements

The colossal scale of the global COVID-19 pandemic 
has presented organisations everywhere with challenges 
adapting to new ways of working. Our secretariat 
office in Sydney was no exception. Fortunately we had 
Gladys Jimenez, Administration Officer to help us build 
organisational resilience. Best practices were put in place, 
and new ways found to reach out and collaborate with 
stakeholders. 

The daily work team call became the new routine. Gladys Jimenez led 
us in regular online exercise routines to support better working from 
home practices.

To facilitate internal and external communications, an 
innovative phone system was acquired to integrate with 
Microsoft Teams and enable calls  to be diverted to mobile 
devices as necessary.

The NAPWHA team started working from home with only 
two staff members attending the office to perform essential 
functions from early April to the end of July 2020.

Thanks to our professional team members, excellent 
leadership and management, NAPWHA has emerged 
stronger than ever and successfully delivered most of its 
activities programmed for the year.

Aaron Cogle 
Executive Director
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Networks

National Network of Women Living with HIV

The National Network of Women Living with HIV is 
beginning a journey of change. It is an exciting time as we 
see a new generation of strong and resilient women taking 
up leadership roles across the HIV sector. These women will  
meet our future challenges around gender parity and other 
needs that impact women’s sexual and reproductive health.

We must continue to have a leading role in the HIV response 
in Australia and ensure issues for women living with HIV 
are represented and considered in all national policy and 
advocacy work. And we need research focused specifically 
on women so that we can have clear answers on what tools 
like U=U, PrEP, PEP, and rapid testing look like for women, 
so we are not left behind.

Womens Forum
In March 2020, we held an amazing, highly engaged Womens 
Forum in Sydney. From this day, clear policy areas and 
activities were identified for moving forward … and then 
COVID-19 hit and we waited and watched while it impacted 
our lives and our work. 

We are excited to make the plan of work established at that 
Forum a priority at the October 2021 Operational Planning 
Day.

National Day of 
Women Living with HIV
On 9 March 2021, the National Day of Women Living with 
HIV (NDWLHIV) events were held across most of the States 
and Territories. 

First established in 2016 to celebrate and raise awareness of 
the diverse and lived experiences of women living with HIV 
(WLHIV), it has continued to grow into a successful calendar 
event. The 2021 theme was “Taking Control of our Health”. 
We focussed on encouraging WLHIV to prioritise their own 
health and not postpone some of the regular tests, such as 
blood pressure, breast checks, cervical screening, and sexual 
health testing as important parts of our routine care. 

Kath Leane hosts a morning tea in Adelaide to celebrate the 
NDWLHIV 



In South Australia, 30 community, sector and mainstream 
people came together to celebrate the lives of WLHIV for 
morning tea at SAMESH. Four women speakers presented on 
mental, physical, financial, and emotional health. I opened 
with the history of the NDWLHIV and a focus on the theme 
by reminding all woman about those important sexual 
and reproductive health checks postponed due to COVID 
lockdowns. We highlighted the Human Papillomavirus 
(HPV) because of the statistically higher risk women have of 
developing HPV related anal and cervical cancers. There is 
a need for increased awareness and education among both 
Health Care Professionals and WLHIV.

In New South Wales, we held an afternoon high tea 
with 60 attendees in a COVID safe space. Michelle 
Tobin acknowledged country, Associate Professor Kathy 
Petoumenos from The Kirby presented on the importance 
of WLHIV participating in research (and the CLIO WLHIV 
Cohort study), and Natasha—who has lived with HIV for 
13 years—shared her experience of being HIV positive and 
transgender.

In Western Australia, we held a women’s forum and dinner 
with five participants who contributed to the NAPWHA 
Health Literacy Framework. Similar consultations were held 
in Melbourne and Queensland. 

In the NT we held a successful clinical Q&A session with 
HIV specialists.

In Queensland, the national day was widely promoted on 
social media channels and across community and staff 
newsletters. At the Brisbane premises they held a morning 
tea to celebrate the lives of women living with HIV.

The NDWLHIV is an initiative of the NAPWHA Women’s 
Network and each year we hope this event grows and the 
day becomes a nationally recognised day in mainstream 
Australia.

Breastfeeding
In 2017, the NAPWHA National Network of WLHIV sent a 
submission to the ASHM Clinical Guidance Sub Committee 
around infant feeding in relation to HIV. The submission 
was asking for a review of a set of Australian Guidelines that 
could enable WLHIV to breastfeed under certain conditions 
based on updated guidelines that have come out of other 
developed countries.

Fast track to 2021, and after four years we finally have 
a result. Two women from the National Network sat on 
this Sub Committee. An amazing group of Health Care 
Professionals, workers, community members and allied 
organisations all added to this collective body of work. 
The result of which is a beautifully illustrated resource 
developed between NAPWHA and Positive Women Victoria. 
NAPWHA’s “Breastfeeding for Women Living with HIV in 
Australia”, along with ASHM’s “Guidance for Healthcare 
providers regarding Infant Feeding Options for PLHIV”, were 
both launched at the 2021 Australasian Sexual Health & 
HIV/ AIDS Conference.

The contributions that WLHIV have made at many levels 
and across jurisdictions is something I am excited to see 
come to fruition. Knowing that many WLHIV will benefit 
from this resource is a wonderful feeling and a massive 
highlight for me to end my tenure as Chair of the Network.

On closing
“When you experience the joy of putting something 
down that really encompasses how you feel about 
a subject, a person or an issue, you will know 
the “high” that can come from communicating 
something important to you – whether to an 
audience or not.” 

These words of wisdom come from David Menadue, a key 
HIV sector activist and leader. His insightful words entered 
my mind as I write this last National Network of Women 
Living with HIV (Femfatales) report for the NAPWHA 
Annual Report.

Thank you to all the amazing women I have met in my 
Convenor role. I have been touched by your resilience, your 
passion, and your generosity to mentor other woman, and 
your willingness to share your knowledge.

The NAPWHA National Network of WLHIV will continue 
the national focus on our key issues and concerns and will 
show we are already informed and empowered and that 
developing a unified way forward will lead to meaningful 
national action.

Katherine Leane 
Convenor
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Positive Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Network 

The past twelve months have been incredibly challenging, 
with COVID restrictions impacting our Aboriginal 
communities around the country. But we have remained 
connected over Zoom, via social media and by phone. 

Aboriginal communities need to be proud of how they 
responded to the pandemic, by shutting borders early to 
prevent the spread of COVID into remote communities. 

A tribute

Sadly, this was a year when we lost a great leader and 
staunch advocate for our mob: Arone Raymond Meeks. A 
proud Aboriginal Man from Laura, Arone passed away on the 
5th of May 2021.

The PATSIN and the Anwernekenhe National HIV Alliance 
(ANA) acknowledge the magnificent work Arone has done 
over the years. He was a wonderful friend and colleague, and 
we were all deeply saddened by his passing.

Arone was an accomplished artist, and his works are on 
display in galleries around the world, including the National 
Gallery of Australia here at home. It was through his art 
that he provided a unique contribution to the HIV sector 
by pioneering a new way of storytelling. He shared his story 
and that of his community by interconnecting Aboriginal 
culture, HIV, and health promotion. 

His work was ground-breaking, giving a voice to those 
previously voiceless—PLHIV, Brotherboys, Sistergirls, indeed 
all LGBTIQ—and educating our communities in the most 
culturally appropriate ways. His legacy is a collection of 
artworks which will continue to have a profound impact on 
the way we understand the history of the HIV response in 
Australia.

 

Arone exhibited a kind and generous strength, something 
which shone through in his art, samples of which he 
provided for many NAPWHA projects. The PATSIN logo 
is one such example: a rich piece of imagery that Arone 
designed to illustrate 

“a safe place to yarn, and a special place where 
members could support each other, inclusive of 
any of our mob that were living with HIV, therefore 
having a voice and a say in what was happening 
with our future issues.

 “The male image is to the right of the Rainbow 
Serpent (our creator) and to the left a female image. 
The central serpent shape also carries designs 
of ‘Creation’ and the virus that some of our mob 
carry. The overall colours of the logo are that of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander flags.”



The PATSIN Black 
Lives Matter 
statement
Arone helped NAPWHA generously over the years, 
significantly through his contributions to PATSIN as an 
adviser. He joined with others on the network to produce 
last year’s community statement of solidarity on Black Lives 
Matter. 

Over the past 20 years, we attended many conferences 
together—from International AIDS Conferences to the 
Indigenous Pre-Conference held prior to the World AIDS 
Conference in Melbourne in 2014. And no matter where 
we went, Arone’s amazing art was there. It was an honour 
walking with him through Parliament House for the 
ATSIHAW Parliamentary Breakfast in 2018, and to see his 
art lining the corridor walls. 

Arone’s artwork has promoted educational resources for 
peer responses in Indigenous communities and resource 
poor-settings, the 2Spirits Program in Cairns, the Sistergirl 
and Brotherboys group, the ANA, Our Vision, Us Mob 
Stronger Together working to stop HIV for our People 
and our Community. His art has graced the cover of HIV 
Australia and the ever-popular community education 
booklet Us Mob and HIV. In fact, a new edition of this 
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booklet is about to be published, so it will be wonderful for 
Arone’s artwork to be seen by many in the community once 
again.

Arone and I remained close friends through the years, 
fighting for the rights of our brothers and sisters living with 
HIV. This was done through words spoken and through his 
art. In 2019 we came together to facilitate a Health and 
Wellbeing Retreat with Queensland Positive People (QPP) for 
newly diagnosed mob in Far North Queensland, and Arone 
facilitated an arts session with the positive mob. 

It was as recently as last December that Arone facilitated 
two inspirational art workshops for our communities of 
people living with HIV to explore Aboriginal art history 
and painting techniques. We were privileged to learn from 
Arone as he proudly shared his heritage and culture with us 
through the medium of art and storytelling. 

His stature as an acclaimed and respected artist and elder 
will not be forgotten. Arone carried the mantle of tradition, 
activism and dignity with leadership and honour. The 
impact and legacy that Arone has left will be felt for many 
years to come. 

There is so much love, respect, and sadness, and it runs 
deep. 

Our condolences continue to flow to Arone’s family, friends, 
and especially to his partner, Tex.

We will be guided by his spirit, his strength, and his passion.

We have lost some strong proud leaders of the past few 
years. I attended the Deadly Sex Conference in Cairns in 
2021 and presented an Individual Excellence Award for 
the work PATSIN did with QPP in holding the Health and 
Wellbeing Retreat in 2019 for the newly diagnosed mob. It 
was an honour to dedicate this award to Neville, Rodney, Ian, 
and Arone for the work they all had done over the years for 
our communities as leaders of PATSIN. 

I have no doubt you all have your sparkles and dancing 
shoes on.

Our work continues
PATSIN met on 6 and 7 May 2021, in a rare face-to-face held 
in Sydney between lockdowns. Five potential initiatives were 
presented and discussed by the nine PATSIN members in 
attendance:

• A badge, ribbon, or T-shirt to increase our profile

• A national phone-back service for peer support (an 
Arone Meeks dedicated initiative)

• An e-newsletter about our community needs, not just 
for PATSIN members but one that could be distributed 
more widely

• A partnership project with NAPWHA to help PATSIN 
develop as an organisation and a redevelopment of 
the PATSIN website to reflect this, with culturally 
appropriate signals included

• A Walk the Talk program

PATSIN is now working to formalise our peer support arm 
with a national phone-back service; and we are also helping 
develop the third module in NAPWHA’s new HIV101 online 
training module for Aboriginal health workers.

We are also working with BlaQ, ACON and Positive Life NSW 
to hold a retreat when restrictions are lifted in New South 
Wales.

Michelle Tobin 
Convenor



State of the positive 
nation

FULL MEMBERS

Living Positive Victoria

Victorian PLHIV rise up in 
a year of unprecedented 
challenges
For Victorians in particular, this year has been like no other. 
Melbourne endured what felt like an unending period of 112 
days in Stage 4 lockdown. 

It is quite difficult to covey what that experience was 
like to those outside the Victorian bubble.  The impact 
on our PLHIV population resulted in a focus on welfare, 
mental health and emergency support in a way we had not 
experienced for well over a decade.

New engagements
We tried new ways of engaging our community across virtual 
formats.  Initially, things were hit and miss with low numbers 
engaging, but after some adjustments we saw an online 
community slowly build across some of our key populations, 
and us extend our reach outside the metropolitan areas. 
Many of these innovations and new ways of working will 
remain in place as we chart a pathway forward living with 
COVID. 

It is important to acknowledge that Team LPV—our staff 
and Board, along with sector partners, Positive Women 
Victoria and Thorne Harbour Health—came through 20/21 
with a stronger relationship built on endurance and a fierce 
determination to support the diverse communities with 
whom we engage.

We did have opportunities to connect. An in-person Planet 
Positive event held in March (exactly 12 months after the 
previous one) saw emotional relief on display and played a 
part in re-enforcing our resilience built on social connection.

In person catch ups were rare but we were able to come 
together at our Planet Positive Autumn Social.

The Midsumma Festival 2021 was postponed, but we did 
have the opportunity to hold our Pride March in May; and a 
good contingent of our community marched with Team LPV 
under the banner of “Together again”.

We virtually launched the publication: Guide to Disclosing 
Your HIV Status with a range of speakers from diverse 
backgrounds sharing stories of disclosure both good and 
bad.  We would like to acknowledge QPP for providing the 
solid base document for us to build on.
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HIV and ageing
We were engaged as lead partner in 
a Burnet Institute grant to develop 
an online portal for HIV and ageing. 
People living with HIV were involved 
in the development of content for this 
project which will help us support 
people living with HIV across their 
lifetime journey. With 50% of all 
PLHIV now over 50, we hope this 
website will become a trusted form 
of information and community 
connection and assist us to age well.

Moving forward
In February, we held a planning day 
for our staff team to discuss our 
recent challenges and to prioritise 
key projects moving forward. 
This will include a new learning 
management system to upgrade our 
IT infrastructure; and to begin our 
journey towards a reconciliation action 
plan and our involvement in the 
Our Future, Beyond Resilience – HIV 
Congress, planned for November 2021.

This year, we are celebrating five 
years since Living Positive Victoria 
and Straight Arrows Victoria merged, 
resulting in a stronger and more 
diverse delivery of services, providing 
a safe and accessible organisation 
for every person living with HIV in 
Victoria.

Team LPV were able to come together for the 2021 Midsumma Pride March.

Max, Susan, and Dimitri take a break while filming for the Well Beyond 50 website.

LPV Board Director Jared, Peer Navigator Sarah, Volunteer Beau, and Board Director 
Stefan make the most of the occasion.



Northern Territory Positive People

We have enjoyed several social inclusion events for positive 
men and women over the last 12 months. We were fortunate 
to be able to hold them even though the NT has experienced 
Stage 2 lock down episodes. Hopefully, we can hold another 
one towards the end of the year that will bring everyone 
together. 

Positive Women
In September 2020, we held a great social dinner and catch-
up for women. HIV Clinician, Dr Manoji and HIV nurse, Sara 
from Clinic 34 gave women the opportunity to ask questions 
in a confidential and safe place. There were differing levels 
of knowledge and attitudes towards HIV. People wanted to 
talk about new treatments, side effects, U=U, dating and 
relationships. 

In December, NTAHC collaborated on the development of 
the Positively Women Project; an art workshop exploring 
women’s attitudes towards HIV, which is now a website 
exhibition. Moving forward, an adaptation of this excellent 
project could well be undertaken in the NT.                                 

In February the Positive Women’s Brunch focused on planning 
for the National Day of Women Living with HIV. March 9 
became a celebration of positive women, with a workshop on 
relationships, dating and disclosure facilitated by Sarah Feagan: 
a NAPWHA Health Literacy Project Community Women’s 
Event. It coincided with the release of NAPWHA’s Breastfeeding 
Guidance and included a clinical Q&A along with info about 
TIM Women. This day provided a platform for women to share 
stories and connect with others.  

In June, we held a Positive Women’s Brunch Pamper Session. 
Lunch and manicures were provided to thank women for 
their contributions throughout the year.

Men’s events
HIV positive men, heterosexual men, gay and MSM gathered 
on the 1 April—a total of 16 individuals attending this social 
inclusion event. We held another on 1 May, this time on 
the Mary River, and 24 individuals came. And on 12 June, a 
harbor cruise took place with 27 attending. 

There are number of members who do not socialise at all, 
so having these events is important as it gives people the 
opportunity to meet with like-minded individuals out in a 
safe space.

Retreat
In previous years The Positive Relaxation Retreat has been 
held by NTAHC and is a time for clients living with BBVs 
to come together, build connections and peer support, talk 
about issues and also take some time out from their busy 
lives to relax and enjoy a break. Held in Alice Springs from 
26 to 28 March, this year’s retreat incorporated adventurous, 
fun, and enjoyable activities. It offered an opportunity to 
make new friends and address any issues or concerns clients 
may have had.

Mark Halton      
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PLHIV Tasmania

(See reports from Associate Member: Positive Lives 
Tasmania and Affiliate Member: TasCAHRD)

Positive Life NSW

Throughout 2020 and 2021, Positive Life NSW continued 
to provide support and advocacy to and on behalf of people 
living with HIV. This included: policy advice; research; housing, 
treatments, systems navigation, vocational support and 
other peer navigation and support services; social inclusion; 
and health promotion. Our digital communications strategy 
remains a primary tool to lift awareness on a range of emerging 
issues and priorities of importance to PLHIV, particularly in 
this extended time of COVID.

Activities in these areas 
included:

• 195 clients engaged with 491 occasions of service in the 
financial year. Of these clients, 174 were male, 22 were 
heterosexual, 16 were female, and five were trans and 
gender diverse. Four clients identified as Aboriginal and 
17 chose the prefer not to say option.

• 124 submissions to the Commonwealth and State 
Government and presentations facilitating outcomes 
to further the health and community services needs 
of PLHIV in NSW, including: feedback on research 
proposals, protocols and guidelines; discussion, options 
and position papers in a range of NSW Health and 
sector advisory groups and committees; presentations 
at various symposia, workshops, and conferences; 
briefings to members of the NSW HIV response 
partnership including participation with the NSW HIV 
Prevention Revolution Project Steering Committee 
and Pillar Working Groups and the NSW HIV Strategy 
Implementation Committee and Expert Data Report 
Committee.

• Three community surveys which consulted PLHIV 
on issues including: program and communication 

platform evaluations; the NSW HIV Strategy 2021-25;  
and the Positive Life NSW Strategic Plan 2021-2025 
consultations. 

• Four partnership events with HIV sector stakeholders. 

• Continued progression of the Anal-Cancer and HPV-
Cancers Advisory Groups representing the interests of 
all PLHIV across NSW. 

 
Some of our most significant 
achievements include:
Aboriginal Health Program – In partnership with 
Gilead, we continued to develop the innovative Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander PLHIV Health Co-Design needs 
assessment of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
community of NSW, including those living with HIV and 
those at risk of acquiring HIV. 

Vanessa Wagner colourfully leads Positive Life NSW’s Mardi 
Gras entry.



Peer Navigation Program – In partnership with NSW 
Health, ViiV Healthcare and MAC, this program is operated 
by a diverse range of peers with lived experience who 
support, inform, build capacity, and connect PLHIV to better 
navigate health and social services systems. 

Our Housing Support program has seen increased 
activity with over 163 new clients throughout the year 
and has supported PLHIV across NSW to access, achieve 
and maintain stable accommodation during the extended 
periods of COVD lockdown. Positive Life NSW is the only 
HIV community organisation supporting PLHIV to navigate 
the range of referral pathways including Housing NSW and 
other service partner networks.  

Both our Employment and Vocational Support 
Program and Ageing Programs have contributed to 
improving the quality-of-life indicators for NSW PLHIV.

Our Peer-Led Partner Notification (PLPN) program 
in partnership with NSW Sexual Health Information Link 
(SHIL) and the HIV Support Program (HSP), continues to 
support PLHIV and newly diagnosed peers along with our 
sexual and injecting partners. 

Social Inclusion and Events - Our social support and 
inclusion groups continue to challenge HIV stigma and 
discrimination through various community events and our 
Positive Speakers Bureau (PSB). 

We delivered education programs and social support through 
[+Connect] and Peers Connect Online! for all people living 
with HIV, Peer2Peer for gay and bisexual men, the Social 
Club for those who identify as heterosexual, and The 
Women’s Room for women under 40 years of age. 

Our ‘In the know’ information and treatments sessions 
included the HIV, COVID-19 and the Vaccine event with 
Professor Tony Kelleher, Associate Professor Edwina Wright, 
Dr Prital Patel, and clinical pharmacist, Hamish Bowden. 

We held one @[STARTx] workshop for recently diagnosed 
gay men, in partnership with ACON. We also held 
community events throughout the year including World 
AIDS Day in partnership with the NSW Ministry of Health, 
Mardi Gras Parade, the Australian National Day of Women 
Living with HIV (NDWLHIV) in partnership with Femfatales, 
the Annual Sydney Candlelight Memorial in partnership 
with ACON, and the Yaralla House social community BBQs. 

Sector 
partners join 
with Positive 
Life NSW at 
the Sydney 
Candlelight 
Memorial.

Panels from 
the AIDS 
Memorial 
Quilt made 
a touching 
prescence on 
World AIDS 
Day.
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Positive Life South Australia

Positive Life SA (PLSA) have had a productive reporting year 
despite the many challenges that COVID-19 has thrown at 
us. 

While there has been an abundance of medical information, 
it has been a task absorbing the latest research, range of 
vaccines, potential side effects, different strains, and options 
available. We acknowledge the careful way our positive 
community have approached things. The resilience of our 
diverse members continues to shine through. 

Initial hesitation and concerns focused on long-term effects, 
privacy, and confidentiality. But the conversation was 
sensible, and the majority have made the right decision for 
their individual situations.  

The following are ways that 
Positive Life SA has been 
able to ensure the voices of 
PLHIV remain a priority and 
central to all our advocacy 
work.

• Kath Leane was Invited to be a community 
representative on the STI and HIV Subcommittee of SA 
STI and BBV Advisory Committee.

• A joint letter from NAPWHA and PLSA was sent to 
The Advertiser calling for the accurate use of non-
stigmatising language in The Australian when talking 
about HIV and people living with HIV.

• PLSA provided a letter of support for RDNS to 
accompany their HIV Enhanced Primary Care tender 
which was successful. 

• When The Hon Tammy Franks introduced a new bill 
in March 2020, a letter was sent to the Sex Industry 
Network (SIN) to show our support of their ongoing 
campaign to decriminalise sex work, and we also 
promoted their Facebook group.

• An informal meeting was held with the Liberal 
member for Badcoe, Jordan Dodd introducing her to 
PLSA, our work, our history, and future directions and 
opportunities.

• A steady demand for peer networking, linkages to 
services and referrals continue.

• We provided individual referral, peer support and email 
information as requested. 

• In this reporting year we have had 31 new memberships.

The Christmas 
fairy made 
a special 
appearance 
at December’s 
Positive Lounge 
Gathering 

Kath Leane 
enjoys the 
company of 
friends at a 
Positive Lounge 
Gathering



Popular programs
Our monthly Friday gatherings remain popular. People enjoy 
the opportunity to network, the social contact, and the 
nutritious, delicious food. 

The Community Pantry, which operated during last 
lockdowns has been extended. On request, a package of 
fruit, vegetables and groceries can be made up and collected 
at an arranged time. This service came out of community 
need and is highly valued and well utilised. 

The monthly cooking classes are well attended. People are 
taught to make sensible budget meals with access to the 
Community Pantry.

The Positive Lounge Gatherings (PLG) continue to attract 
between 15 and 20 community members each month. 
With encouragement and support from the BGF worker 
we welcomed six new people. Despite the three months of 
lockdown, between October 2020 and June 2021 we were 
fortunate to be able to hold nine PLGs. The partnership 
between PLSA and SAMESH continues to be successful and 
guest speakers have been introduced as part of the monthly 
program. These have included Professor Sharon Liberali, 
the Director of the Special Needs Dentistry at Adelaide 
Dental Hospital, and Adrian Crowe, the senior advocate for 
Advocacy for Disability Access Inclusion, who focused on 
NDIS information. 

A key volunteer, Hugh continues to provide natural 
therapies which the community highly value and 
recommend. You can find more information from this link 
https://g.co/kgs/VAqboC

Ambulance cover
An initial grant from MAC cosmetics continues to cover 
SA Ambulance Subscriptions for an increasing number 
of PLSA members. A concerning advocacy issue is that 
new PLHIV are rarely recipients of a Centrelink Disability 
Support Pension, instead being processed under Newstart. 
SA Ambulance do not recognise Newstart as a concession, 
so the increased cost from $55.50 for a single ambulance 
membership is now $88, meaning the fund will diminish 
quicker. We actively encourage people to keep their 
ambulance membership up to date. Meanwhile, we continue 
to seek other funding opportunities.

Social media
On World AIDS Day 2020, we launched our updated website 
thanks to expert support from Positive Life NSW. The user-
friendly website profiles our key work such as the PLG and 
the Ambulance Memberships. Still high on the agenda is a 
reinvigorated Positive Speakers Bureau and access to free 
ART. 

Activity on our Facebook page continues to increase. It is an 
excellent tool to promote the organisation and keep in touch 
with members. Facebook enables us to connect with our 
438 followers and reach a different demographic. We used it 
to promote the HIV Futures 10 survey about quality of life 
among PLHIV in Australia, as well as the upcoming National 
“Our Future, Beyond Resilience” HIV Congress.  

Our membership was informed about a wide range of online 
webinars, forums, and regular zoom opportunities on offer 
from NAPWHA. Regular updates and links to COVID-19 
information were provided regularly.

Remembering
An exciting virtual event we were able to support profiled 
a community member’s life work: Jack Linou, The Art of an 
Outsider by Christos Linou, his brother. The book is a tribute 
to Jack Linou, who died of HIV/AIDS in 1997 at the age of 
33. His life is documented with a collection of paintings, 
drawings, poetry, and memoirs. A planned SA launch of this 
book will be on World AIDS Day 2021.

The Candlelight Memorial on 16 May was another 
successful partnership event with SAMESH. This year, a 
small gathering acknowledged the 40-year history of HIV/
AIDS. It was an intimate event with the program and history 
provided by PLSA. A moving spontaneous sharing by a 
partner whose wife recently passed was a powerful reminder 
of the grief and pain alongside the achievements of so many 
trailblazers who paved the way.  Two Quilt panels, originally 
made in SA, were on display and provided a stark reminder 
of the pre-treatment era.

Partnerships
Our ongoing successful partnership with Positive Life NSW 
resulted in PLSA being generously offered access to their 
“HIV is Everyone’s Business” campaign. Updated with our 
logo and information, we produced 400 pamphlets that 
we distributed across mainstream health services and HIV 

https://g.co/kgs/VAqboC
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community friendly spaces. The pamphlets not only provide 
much needed education about HIV but are a valuable tool for 
raising our profile and reminding people that PLSA is still here! 

We must acknowledge the generosity of our allied 
organisation SIN, who continue to provide a safe space for 
PLSA, some administrative support and valuable networking, 
collaboration, and important conversations.

PLSA will continue to strive to be a an effective, inclusive, 
representational voice for all people living with HIV in SA. 

We thank the NAPWHA Board, staff, and volunteers 
for their endless work, and for supporting an HIV Peer 
Navigator role here in SA following a successful grant put in 
by NAPWHA and Thorne Harbour Health.         

Positive Living ACT

HIV Positive Services in Canberra have been defined by the 
ongoing challenges of COVID-19: the social and economic 
impact and the physical and mental health stresses within 
our community. While Canberra avoided lockdowns from 
May 2020 until August 2021, the ongoing travel restrictions 
within NSW and lockdowns in Sydney and Melbourne have 
significantly impacted our positive community. 

Service access
Canberrans often rely on access to interstate medical 
specialists, and for most, the support of family and friends 
outside the ACT. The ACT/NSW border divides what is 
a single community in relation to health and support 
provision, and so differing restrictions have excluded some 
NSW residents from our services and HIV specialists within 
the ACT. Flexibility in service provision and access via 
Telehealth have been essential to resolve these regional 
concerns. 

HIV peer support workers facilitated clients in accessing 
Telehealth for medical appointments and remote 
counselling. Where necessary, we provided new phones or 
tablets so that clients had adequate equipment to access 
these services. We assisted clients to access the COVID-19 
vaccination program, particularly those with poor literacy 
and limited ability with online booking platforms. From 
September we will be hosting our own COVID testing and 
vaccination clinics for vulnerable people, staffed by ACT 
Health personnel. 

Support dinners
In 2021, we reinstated our monthly Peer Support Network 
dinners, and the growing number of attendees demonstrates Candlelight Memorial 2021

World AIDS Day 2020



a strong desire by community to connect. Social isolation 
was already a key difficulty faced by many of our clients, so 
Positive Services became proactive, reaching out throughout 
the year. This has resulted in some clients reengaging with 
our in-person events after years of absence. Unfortunately, 
the August dinner was held on the last day before new 
lockdowns were announced and we expect it may be the last 
social gathering for 2021.

Peer support
Positive Services received an increase in referrals for peer 
support for people with new HIV diagnosis this year, in 
contrast to 2020. We have instigated our Genesis 1-2-1 
program with seven clients, firstly meeting in person and 
more recently transitioning to Zoom. We will hold our first 
online group gathering of Genesis graduates before the end 
of the year.

We recorded a steady presentation in issues related to 
mental health, housing stress, income stress and loss of 
work, drug and alcohol problems, and relationship stress: 
all of which appeared to be related to COVID-19 impacts. 

Onward referral for mental health and social worker support 
has been made possible by priority triaging for positive 
clients by Westlund Wellbeing services. 

Special events
In December 2020, we hosted a small commemoration for 
World AIDS Day, featuring the Qwire and the Peter Rowland 
Memorial address by a young positive man, Jacob White, 
who spoke about the power of U=U to eradicate stigma. 

In May 2021, we held an outdoor event for the AIDS 
Candlelight Memorial, featuring an address by Dr Clara Tuck 
Meng Soo who detailed her experience as a leader of the 
community health service response to HIV in Canberra. 
Dr Soo inspired us with her personal and passionate 
perspective on how the response to HIV has informed her 
public advocacy for access to gender affirming health care 
for transgender youth.  We also held a positive women’s 
morning tea. These events, while scaled down to conform 
with COVID restrictions, have attracted full attendance with 
priority for our positive community members.

Positive Organisation Western Australia

We are fortunate in WA that COVID-19 lockdowns and 
vaccine hesitancy amongst people with HIV have been 
minimal. The interstate and international travel restrictions 
and border closures have also had a dramatic side impact of 
reducing new HIV diagnoses in W.A. Hopefully the reduction 
is sustained.

Left is a table from the WA Department of Health 
illustrating this decline.

Events and collaborations
On 30 November 2020, as part of World AIDS Day, POWA 
organised an HIV Symposium at the City of Perth library 
lecture theatre. Topics included the new Australian HIV Peer 
Support Standards, U=U, SHE Women WA, and HIV and 
Ageing.

The following analysis of HIV notifications data includes 
cases diagnised for the forst time in WA and excludes 
notifications of HIV cases previously diagnosed overseas.

Figure 4 Number of HIV notifications by quarter, for 
the two most recent 12-month periods (excludes cases 
previously diagnosed outside WA)
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HIV Symposium for World AIDS Day at the Perth City Library

Colleagues from WAAC are encircled by POWA Deputy Chair,  
Diane Lloyd and Chair, Cipri Martinez

30+ participants attended, and catering was provided by 
ViiV Health Care Australia. We would like to acknowledge 
their support and everyone else involved, particularly our 
volunteers and partners.

Collaboration with our WA HIV sector partners has happily 
continued this year.  We especially acknowledge the WA 
Health Consumer Council for providing their office for our 
meetings, and the WA AIDS Council (WAAC) who signed a 
Memorandum of Understanding with us in November 2020. 
Current engagement with them includes monthly meetings, 

a POWA representative on WAAC’s PLWH reference group 
(WAACIFY) and participation in WAAC’s World AIDS Day 
Committee (2021).

POWA also engaged with the 2020 World AIDS DAY 
activities in Perth’s Yagan Square. WAAC organised stalls 
and we thank them for the opportunity to have our own.

Policy and advocacy
POWA provided input into the WA Disclosure Guide being 
produced by the HIV/AIDS Legal Centre, and we continue 
involvement in the Department of Health’s development of 
the Blood-Borne Virus Stigma and Discrimination Training 
Package Co-design project.

POWA Deputy Chairperson, Diane Lloyd has been busy this 
year organising POWA badges, shirts, and a pull up banner 
for events. She was invited by NAPWHA to be a Community 
Advocate for the HIV Health Literacy Framework Project 
and launched the report at a brunch for women on 7 
March for the National Day of Women Living with HIV. An 
information display promoting the NDWLHIV, with quotes 
from the HIV Health Literacy Framework, was displayed at 
Peer Based Harm Reduction in Perth and Bunbury for over a 
week.

Diane also participated and recruited others for the 
Positively Women art exhibition from WA (https://
positivelywomenproject.com.au/). She also provided one 
on one support for a woman stuck in Perth because of 
COVID-19 hotel quarantine and assisted with the provision 
of HIV medication for a male also in hotel quarantine who 
had run out of tablets.

We also thank Ryan Oliver who retired as Treasurer this year. 
His long-standing and ongoing support for people with HIV 
and for POWA and its endeavors is much appreciated. 

Finally, I’d like to give a shout out to all the POWA Board, 
our members, NAPWHA and the whole Australian body 
positive. Thanks to your efforts and support we get the 
chance to give back to our communities in WA. 

Cipri Martinez 
POWA Chair

https://positivelywomenproject.com.au/
https://positivelywomenproject.com.au/


Queensland Positive People

The last year has been a challenge for all of us, but 
despite the continued ups and downs, QPP has ensured 
the sustainability of services throughout the COVID-19 
pandemic response. Despite increasing demand for the 
services we provide and increasing pressure on our team, 
we have bolstered our capacity to creatively provide much-
needed support to PLHIV and people at risk of HIV/STIs in 
Queensland. 

QPP have developed a new Strategic Plan to guide our 
work over the next five years. Alongside this, we have 
renegotiated and signed a five-year service agreement with 
the Queensland Department of Health, which includes 
additional funding for the RAPID HIV/STI point of care 
testing program and HIV home testing kits. This provides 
much needed stability and security for the services we 
provide for PLHIV and people at risk of HIV/STIs for the 
next few years. 

Case management and peer 
navigation 
Over the last year, the Life+ Program continued to provide 
peer navigation and case management support to over 600 
PLHIV. This included emotional and psychological support 
and assistance with treatment access and adherence, housing, 
mental health, substance use and stigma and discrimination. 
Demand for these services increased this year from people 
experiencing COVID-19-related emotional and psychological 
distress, immigration issues, and homelessness.

QPP also administers four funds that aim to support 
PLHIV who are experiencing barriers to engaging with HIV 
treatment and care or financial hardship. Over $70,000 of 
emergency funding was provided to 164 PLHIV experiencing 
financial hardship, including Medicare ineligible PLHIV. 

QPP also had the opportunity to partner with community 
and deliver a series of six-week mental health workshops co-
facilitated by a peer navigator and psychologist.

Peer education and 
community development 
A Queensland Government COVID grant has enabled QPP 
to employ a dedicated community engagement worker to 
support the following initiatives: 

• Establish the QPP Community Advisory Group who 
have met eight times over the last 12 months. The group 
is invaluably informing the design, implementation, and 
evaluation of QPP programs and services. 

•  Peer-led education on HIV and COVID-19 including 
updates and information on HIV comorbidities, 
associated COVID-19 risks, vulnerability to serious 
illness and vaccination. 

• Coordination of 14 QPP on-line social groups plus 
additional support for in person social groups with over 
120 regular attendees.

•  Support for over 10 national online chat and 
information sessions on mental health and the moving 
landscape of COVID-19. 

• Redesign and update the QPP website, which is 
currently in progress.

Social groups 
QPP has continued to operate social groups this year and 
adapted modes of delivery to the changing environment of 
the pandemic. QPP facilitated a blended mix of online and 
in-person social groups to ensure continuity of community 
support.
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World AIDS Day 
A reinvigorated World AIDS Day 2020 involved a new digital 
awareness campaign informed by the lived experience 
of PLHIV. The positive voice at the Candlelight Vigils in 
Brisbane and Cairns and media engagements were deeply 
and powerfully felt by all. Seven regional World AIDS Grants 
were distributed across Queensland.

RAPID
The RAPID testing program delivered 6,540 occasions of 
service, distributed 333 online orders for HIV home testing 
kits, and operated a peer support telephone line during 
some lockdown periods.  

Looking forward, RAPID will continue working to improve 
access to sexual health testing for those who are living 
with or at risk of HIV and increase the proportion of PLHIV 
who know their status. We will also continue our work to 
dismantle HIV-related stigma by educating our clients on 
the lived experience of HIV.

Research and advocacy 
QPP continues to value research that demonstrates the 
impact of the services we provide and builds an evidence 
base to assist us to better understand and meet the needs 
of our communities. We are a partner organisation in 14 
Queensland-led research studies and participate in 10 
national projects and advisory groups. 

Advocacy work over the last 12 months has included: 

• Removing questions regarding HIV status disclosure 
on Queensland Health COVID vaccination forms. HIV 
and the Law reform with the Queensland Government 
Office of the Attorney-General  

• Providing feedback on the Federal Government’s 
Religious Discrimination Bill 2019. 

• Providing feedback on the Federal Government’s Online 
Safety Bill expressing concerns regarding the ability to 
implement public health and harm minimisation sexual 
education campaigns. 



Left: QPP Staff 
Conference 2021

Bottom left: World AIDS 
Day Candlelight Vigil

Bottom right: RAPID HIV/
STI peer led point of care 
testing program

• Developing a submission into the government’s Inquiry 
into Social Isolation and Loneliness in Queensland. 
QPP was also invited, as a witness, to the public 
hearing in September 2021. This is an incredible and 
timely opportunity for the positive voice and the 
promotion of peer support initiatives, one that reaches 
the highest levels of government. There have been a 
few moments where we have the occasion to influence 
parliament through an inquiry and its subsequent 
report (with recommendations). 

Behind the scenes, we have continued work on a 
number of operational reforms with a focus on positive 
organisational culture, capacity building and working 

towards accreditation. This has involved significant 
changes and developments in human resources, 
governance, financial management and quality and risk 
systems. 

Further, we have reviewed our organisational and 
management structure with the aim of providing deeper 
interconnection of role and function for the relevant 
staff and teams. This has allowed the organisation to be 
forward-thinking and motivated, with increased capacity 
and sustainability.
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ASSOCIATE MEMBERS

Bobby Goldsmith Foundation

This past year has been a mix of challenges and 
opportunities as we have navigated a new world of living 
with COVID-19.  We have been determined in all that we 
have done to support the health and wellbeing of all our 
community members, helping them to thrive through 
uncertain times.

Launch of BGF’s Strategic 
Orientation 2021-2025
In early September 2020, BGF’s Board and management 
came together for the BGF Strategic Orientation planning 
session.  We spent time reflecting on the past four years and 
the impact our work has had on the HIV sector and how we 
will continue this into the future. 

We were fortunate to be joined at the session by a panel 
of experts from the HIV sector and we were so grateful for 
their involvement.  After a lot of discussion (and some soul 
searching) we realised that BGF still has a lot of relevance 
and is very much needed to continue to support our clients 
as they age with HIV in the next decade.  

From this planning session we developed our Strategic Plan 
2021-2025 which will help us address gaps in the HIV sector 
and continue to optimise how we serve our clients over the 
next four years.

Expansion of our work into 
Western Sydney
After several years of planning—and in the line with our 
strategic goal of expanding our services into areas of 
regional and rural geographic need—we set up an additional 
BGF branch in Parramatta in March 2021. We are excited 
to be partnering with Western Sydney Local Health District 
and Western Sydney Sexual Health Clinic to support more 
people living with HIV in this area. 

Being based in Parramatta has given us an opportunity to 
make a difference by addressing HIV stigma, championing 
diversity and inclusion, and serving people living with HIV 
with an approach tailored to the culturally diverse and 
marginalised communities in Greater Western Sydney. 

From left to right the team at BGF, The BGF Book Club, Community connecting creatively. 



Development of Health & 
Well-Being programs
Our Health & Well-Being programs continue to be run 
virtually, and the fact that they are online has meant that 
we can now reach clients that may not otherwise have 
participated in a face-to-face program.  We’ve been working 
with various HIV community organisations across Australia 
to promote our programs and have had participants from 
Queensland, Western Australia and South Australia join us 
so far! 

Our programs are now categorised under four main areas 
to help achieve a better quality of life, namely: social, 
psychological, physical, and financial health, and we’re 
regularly introducing new programs to respond to the 
interest of our clients.

Growth of NDIS support
Meeting the changing needs of the people we work with 
has required us to extend our services into the area of NDIS 
support.  We are currently developing processes to meet the 
NDIS standards in readiness for registration.  We have been 

lucky to have assistance from pro bono consultant firm, CBB 
who are very familiar with NDIS, and this will expediate the 
process.  

Once we are registered as an NDIS provider we will be able to 
take on new referrals and provide continuity for those who 
would like one service provider meeting their needs.  We 
have already had positive feedback from service users about 
this development, all who are looking forward to their NDIS 
services coming from providers experienced with PLHIV.

BGF marching at the Sydney Gay & Lesbian Mardi Gras Parade 2021.

Body Positive New Zealand

2020 saw a drop in new diagnoses and a corresponding 
drop in testing. We have seen an increase in people needing 
support for mental health and social isolation. Health care 
providers have been seeking support with re-engaging 
people with care and our sexual health clinic provides a vital 
option for an alternate access point for HIV care. 

Highlights from 2020 
“Can’t pass it on” continues to be our main message and 
has been pushed out through social media and outdoor 
advertising to raise awareness. There has been increased 
interest in this campaign with requests through our website 
for materials to be displayed in offices and healthcare 
settings. Numerous other HIV organisations have 
customised the campaign for their own use.

We moved some of our support groups online due to 
lockdowns, with varying ongoing success. Support through 
HIV Peer Navigators has been provided through phone 
support when in-person was not an option. With rolling 
lockdowns, we have developed lists of people that benefit 
from a regular phone call for support. 

With the increased demand for access to content, we 
have updated our website to ensure people can access the 
information they are seeking. New content on Chemsex, 
disclosure, and (soon) mental health have been developed. 
With the imminent introduction of voluntary assisted dying, 
we are developing end of life resources for people to ensure 
their needs are managed appropriately at that life stage. 

 
 



41Annual Report  |  2020 - 2021

S/perm Positive now has three bouncing babies. And 
extremely happy parents. This program continues to receive 
overseas interest and we are looking at ways to evolve it to 
an international project. 

Fortunately, we were able to host our community 
engagement events including the Candlelight Memorial, 
World AIDS Day events and the Men’s Retreat. Numerous 
events featured at Pride, including an HIV picnic at the AIDS 
Memorial, a sexual health panel, a Chemsex open mic and a 
popup iPrEP clinic at the Big Gay Out Fair Day. 

The Stigma Index Report was launched on World AIDS Day 
2020 and work is ongoing to develop an implementation 
strategy from the findings. This work is based on the GNP 

document showing how to create policy and advocacy action 
from the stigma index recommendations. These will dovetail 
into the NZ HIV Action Plan (the first plan in 20 years) and 
provide a national commitment to ending stigma.

Work towards the self-collection of samples for Dried Blood 
Spot Testing for HIV, HCV and syphilis is ongoing. This will 
launch at Pride in 2022, as part of a research study looking 
at blood donations. 

Telehealth for ongoing health care has become mainstream 
and we are working with providers to ensure that people are 
supported to access this. 

There is ongoing work in criminalisation but without a lot of 
progress. This will feature in the National plan. 

Top: Body Positive proudly marching at the Auckland Pride Parade, bottom: Executive Director of Body Positive NZ Mark Fisher.



Estrela+                                                http://www.estrelaplus.com/

Igat Hope                                               https://www.igathope.org/

Over this reporting period, the COVID-19 epidemic has been 
an enormous challenge to the health systems in both Papua 
New Guinea (PNG) and Timor-Leste. Igat Hope and Estrela 
Plus have worked hard to maintain communications with 
members and help to deal with the health crisis. 

Igat Hope asked for NAPWHA support to provide updated 
information on their website and with the support of the 
Collaboration for Health in PNG this work was carried out.

NAPWHA also contributed ideas for the structure of a 
vaccine acceptability survey conducted with PLHIV in PNG 
and the results are published here.

In Timor-Leste, regular communications have been hard 
to maintain. Estrela+ continues to do important work 
representing PLHIV and we look forward to renewing contact 
with NAPWHA in the coming year.

Positive Lives Tasmania

As Positive Lives Tasmania enters its third year of operation, 
the COVID pandemic is still affecting most aspects of 
our lives. Despite outbreaks in other states, Tasmania has 
remained for the most part COVID free. This has allowed 
us to make much needed outreach to new and existing 
members around the island state. Our membership 
continues to grow in numbers and diversity.

PLT has made trips to both the Northwest and East Coast 
of Tasmania, meeting with individuals and hosting dinner 
and lunch catchup sessions. Generous donations by local 
politicians and PLT members themselves have enabled us to 
keep up member contact over the last year.

Members of the Board have met with several State 
politicians as we continue to promote the needs of PLHIV 
in Tasmania. We have also distributed and updated 
promotional material through Sexual Health Services around 
the state.

PLT currently has a funding submission lodged with the 
Tasmanian State Health Department and while the State 
Budget has been handed down, we are still waiting to hear 
the Department’s decision.

Iain McFee

Positive Women Victoria

Positive Women Victoria provides services to an increasing 
and increasingly diverse group of Victorian women who 
live with HIV. Members newly referred to us in the 2020-21 
period originated from 14 different countries. 

COVID challenges
It goes without saying that like all health service 
organisations in 2020-21, we have tried a lot and learned a 
lot when it came to our capacity to work with our members 

http://www.estrelaplus.com/
http://www.estrelaplus.com/
https://www.igathope.org/
https://papuanewguinea.un.org/en/131564-survey-finds-52-people-living-hiv-would-take-covid-19-vaccin
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and clients online and remotely. Not only have our skills 
and capabilities been tested and greatly improved, PWV 
has also successfully engaged members in forums including 
small online chat groups, webinars, and online social groups. 
We’ve held a virtual AGM, and Board and other meetings 
have been conducted remotely. 

COVID has stretched and challenged us, but also provided 
new insights into how we can change. For many of our 
members, phone, email, text message, Zoom and FaceTime 
have proven an easy, convenient way to engage formally and 
informally, and to remain connected throughout periods of 
isolation and lockdown that have been so trying for many of us.

Opportunities
We were able to achieve at least one major face-to-face 
event, a successful annual Wellbeing Weekend held in 
March. As well, we were able to establish regular new social 
opportunities for our clients and members over 50, and 
clients and members from African and South-East Asian 
countries.

We have also increased our engagement with recently 
diagnosed and younger members, through our referral 
partnerships with hospital, GP clinics and health services 
across Melbourne and in the HIV sector.

Among the highlights of our advocacy work over the past 12 
months has been the successful roll out, despite lockdown, 
of Women and HIV: Tell the Story, a series of activities to 
challenge HIV-related stigma. This has included: a suite of 
activities including podcasts in which women shared their 
stories (seven podcast episodes now available); a media 
guide on reporting about HIV and women; a ground-breaking 
webinar focused on U=U for women; and a Communications 
Workshop to support women with the skills and confidence 
to communicate effectively. 

This project was led by Heather Ellis, supported by a grant 
from Gilead Sciences. We are immensely proud of this 
important work.

Breastfeeding
PWV was thrilled to be a part of a NAPWHA project to 
produce long overdue guidance on breastfeeding and 
infant feeding options for people living with HIV. We were 
contracted by NAPWHA to produce a resource specifically 
for women, providing clear, evidence-based options to 
support informed choice based on up-to-date science and 
realistic advice. 

The resource was written by Heather Ellis and Kirsty 
Machon, supported with the insights and personal 
experiences of many of our members who generously shared 
their experiences, concerns and hopes.

Peer support
As peer support needs change, so should we. We have 
developed and are implementing a comprehensive Peer 
Support Services Delivery Framework and Policy Guidance 
which describes the ethos and practice of peer support at 
Positive Women Victoria. This will provide informed policies, 
clear guidance, client-centred and trauma-informed care 
models and referral pathways, a professional development 
framework, and a brand-new database and communication 
system, to be live as soon as lockdowns permit. All this will 
enable us to provide a comprehensive, rounded support 
model uniquely suited to our client and member needs.

Thank you to staff, the Board, and partners including Living 
Positive Victoria, Thorne Harbour Health, the positive 
organisations of other States and Territories, the Victorian 
Department of Health, and NAPWHA for sticking with us 
and by us in this most unusual of years.

Pozhet                                                        https://pozhet.org.au/

https://pozhet.org.au/


AFFILIATE MEMBER

TasCAHRD

The last 12 months have brought major changes to 
TasCAHRD that have set a patten for our future ability to 
provide a wide range of clinical services and additionally 
provide a separate income stream that over time will 
ensure services can be maintained without total reliance on 
Government funding.

General Medical Practice
In June 2020, the Board decided to pursue the purchase of a 
General Medical Practice in Hobart. The Board considered all 
aspects and explored future possibilities with due diligence 
and risk assessment before the decision was made. We 
signed the legal documents in early February 2021. 

This is a long-established Medical Practice with a strong, 
traditional patient list. The first doctor we have employed 
is an HIV s100 prescriber, only one of five in Tasmania. 
We have now been able to direct TasCAHRD service users 
to our practice with the result that they are getting more 
personal care. Several people have been able to rationalise 
the number of health care providers they see, in some 
cases from three down to one. We also offer Telehealth, 
which connects positive people from all around Tasmania—
especially those in remote areas—to better, specialised 
health care.

We will also be able to offer a wide range of allied health care 
through the practice which will be a further benefit to our 
service users. These additional services will be strategically 
rolled out.

Although running as a community health care practice, 
we are budgeting to operate the business with a surplus to 
ensure TasCAHRD remains financially viable. This means 
we can continue to offer our clients a high-level of service 
into the future and carry out education within the wider 
community.

The Podcast Studio
Funded by ViiV Healthcare to keep positive people from all 
around the state connected, our Podcast Studio provides 
updates in all forms of health care. It has proved to be a 
valuable resource, especially during the uncertain times that 
this pandemic has brought. 

Although installed with this one purpose in mind, there 
has been an unrelated flow-on effect. With TasCAHRD now 
provisioned with a first-class studio, we have been able to 
make this available to a range of not-for-profit organisations, 
resulting in valuable connections with many unrelated 
NGOs. This has helped lift our profile while putting 
something back into the greater community.

Peer Educator Program
This is under review with an expanded program due to be 
rolled out within the next few months.

Positive Living Victoria
We have, for many years, maintained a close working 
relationship with LPV, tapping into their resources when 
appropriate and the situation calls.

Bloodwise Training
An external education program designed to better inform 
people regarding blood born viruses, this training program 
is being successfully delivered to a range of organisations 
including Red Cross, Anglicare and Community House; 
to high schools and prisons; and other government 
departments and smaller community organisations.
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Although this program is not directly connected to the body 
positive, it facilitates the education of the HIV negative 
community, to help eliminate future transmissions, while 
providing a level of knowledge that will help to reduce 
stigma and discrimination.

Andrew Shaw Foundation
We continue to provide financial assistance for health care 
and part payment toward utilities, as requested.

Nigel Mallet Housing Project
Two of these properties are between tenants and are being 
renovated. 

Staff
We are a relatively small organisation who are funded 
through the Tasmanian Department of Health and 
Human Services to provide specific services to the HIV+ 
community.  A recently employed staff member holds a 
Sociology degree and a Master of Social Work, which ensures 
TasCAHRD staff to be the best available team with best 
practice and service support.



 

Treasurer’s Report 

For the year ending 30 June 2021, NAPWHA’s total 
income was $1,183,427 ($1,077,155- 2020) with total 
expenses of $944,482 ($1,013,307 – 2020) resulting in a 
cash surplus of $238,945 ($63,848-2020). The operating 
result is significantly better than budget forecast for the 
year.  NAPWHA’s total assets at the end of the year were 
$2,374,149 ($1,658,457-2020) and total liabilities were 
$842,055 ($611,217-2020) resulting in a net asset position 
of $1,532,094 ($1,047,240-2020).

The COVID-19 pandemic has continued to have a positive 
impact on NAPWHA’s financial position. Sound financial 
management and planning have ensured continuity of 
NAPWHA operations and contractual obligations during the 
pandemic. 

NAPWHA’s financial position remains strong with increased 
income and an improved equity position. The improved 
position is due to new agreements with the Commonwealth 
government, some additional pharma contracts, fewer 
face-to-face meetings, reduced travel and a revaluation of 
NAPWHA’s offices. I note that the business loans which 
funded the purchase of the NAPWHA office were also  paid 
out this year and have now been closed, further reducing 
NAPWHA’s expenditure.

Looking towards the future, the Board will budget for 
increased expenditure as we transition back to more normal 
ways of working, post-pandemic, and will continue to 
maintain close oversight of the budget as we acquit our 
contractual obligations.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to acknowledge and 
thank NAPWHA’s Executive Director, Aaron Cogle for sound 
management of the organisation’s income and expenses to 
support the delivery of a good result for 2021. 

As outgoing Treasurer-Secretary I would also like to thank 
Scott Harlum, President, and the Board of NAPWHA for 
their ongoing support. It has been an honour and a privilege 
to serve the Australian HIV positive community on the 
Board. 

Chris Howard 
Secretary-Treasurer
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Your Board members submit the financial report of  National Association of People With HIV Australia 
(NAPWHA) Incorporated, for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

Board Members

The names of Board members throughout the year and at the date of this report are:

Scott Harlum – President
Sarah Feagan – Vice President
Chris Howard  – Secretary/Treasurer 
Robert Mitchell – stepped down 27/11/2020
Danny Ryding 
Diane Lloyd – re-elected on 27/11/2020
Michael Brown
Simon O’Connor – stepped down 27/11/2020
Steven Spencer – elected 27/11/2020
Stephen Lunny – elected 27/11/2020

Aaron Cogle – Executive Director
Charlie Tredway – Staff Representative 

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Association during the financial year were:

5. Formulation of policies for member organisations on matters concerning HIV/AIDS at a national and
international level;

6. Representation of member organisations on all matters concerning HIV/AIDS at a national and
international level; and

7. Collection and dissemination of information and resources for distribution to member organisations.

1. Advancing the human rights and dignity of people with HIV/AIDS, including their right to participate in
the Australian Community without discrimination and their right to comprehensive and appropriate
treatment, care support and education;

2. Advocacy on national issues concerning people with HIV/AIDS;

3. Provision of assistance to people affected by HIV/AIDS, including the provision of material, emotional
and social support;

4. Encouragement, assistance, monitoring and promotion of medical and scientific research into the
causes, prevention and cure of HIV/AIDS;

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 1
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Significant Changes

No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year.

Operating Result

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the members of the Board.

Sarah Feagan

Acting President

The surplus from ordinary activities after providing for income tax amounted to $238,945 (2020 Surplus: 
$63,848).

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 2

Chris Howard

Treasurer

Dated this 2nd day of November 2021

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 2
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INCORPORATED 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020
Note $ $

Revenue 2 1,180,873             1,072,414               

Interest revenue 2,554                    4,741                      

1,183,427             1,077,155               

Expenses

Admistration expenses (322,330)               (334,575)                 
Depreciation and amortisation expenses (10,133)                 (10,419)                   
Project & Program expenses (518,928)               (476,274)                 
Property expenses (31,381)                 (30,689)                   
Conference and meeting expenses (24,988)                 (75,719)                   
Website &  IT (26,647)                 (42,233)                   
Other operating expenses (10,075)                 (43,398)                   

Surplus before income tax expense 238,945                63,848                    

Income tax expense 1 -                            -                              

Surplus after income tax expense for the year 

attributable to the members 238,945                63,848                    

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Gains on revaluation of buildings 245,909                -                              

Total comprehensive income for the year 

attributable to the members 484,854                63,848                    

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 3
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INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

Note 2021 2020
$ $

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,176,748            638,947               
Trade and other receivables 6 6,843                   80,026                 
Other current assets 7 15,385                 11,301                 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,198,976            730,274               

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 8 1,175,173            928,183               

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 1,175,173            928,183               

TOTAL ASSETS 2,374,149            1,658,457            

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 9 56,146                 74,545                 
Financial Liabilities 10 -                          27,607                 
Provisions 11 100,222               97,965                 
Contract liabilities 12 678,617               408,988               

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 834,985               609,105               

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions 11 7,070                   2,112                   

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,070                   2,112                   

TOTAL LIABILITIES 842,055               611,217               

NET ASSETS 1,532,094            1,047,240            

EQUITY
Retained Earnings 1,210,624            971,679               
Assets Revaluation Reserve 321,470               75,561                 

TOTAL EQUITY 1,532,094            1,047,240            

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 4
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

$ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2019 75,561              907,831           983,392                 

Surplus after income tax expense for the year -                   63,848             63,848                   

Balance at 30 June 2020 75,561              971,679           1,047,240              

Surplus after income tax expense for the year -                   238,945           238,945                 

Gains on revaluation of buildings 245,909            -                  245,909                 

Balance at 30 June 2021 321,470            1,210,624        1,532,094              

   

RETAINED 

EARNINGS
TOTAL

ASSETS  

REVALUATION 

RESERVE  

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 5
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021
Note 2021 2020

$ $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash Receipts from operating activities 1,590,358         1,325,644         

Payments to suppliers and employees (1,016,243)        (1,002,545)        

Interest received 2,554                4,741                

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 576,669            327,840            

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (11,214)             (3,862)               

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (11,214)             (3,862)               

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of borrowings (27,654)             (26,436)             

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES (27,654)             (26,436)             

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH HELD 537,801           297,542           

638,947            341,405            

5 1,176,748         638,947            

CASH AT THE BEGINNING OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

CASH AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 6



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted

Basis of preparation

Revenue recognition

Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer such as 

discounts, rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any other contingent 

events. Such estimates are determined using either the 'expected value' or 'most likely amount' method. The 

measurement of variable consideration is subject to a constraining principle whereby revenue will only be 

recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue 

recognised will not occur. The measurement constraint continues until the uncertainty associated with the variable 

consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts received that are subject to the constraining principle are 

recognised as a refund liability.

The Association recognises revenue as follows:

In the officers' opinion, the Association is not a reporting entity because there are no users dependent on general 

purpose financial statements.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These 

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The Association has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 

Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period.

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early 

adopted.

These are special purpose financial statements that have been prepared for the purposes of complying with the 

Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the Associations Incorporation Act 1991 (ACT), 

and associated regulations. The officers have determined that the accounting policies adopted are appropriate to 

meet the needs of the members of the Association.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the recognition and measurement requirements 

specified by the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 

Board ('AASB') and the disclosure requirements of AASB 101 'Presentation of Financial Statements', AASB 107 

'Statement of Cash Flows', AASB 108 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors', AASB 

1048 'Interpretation of Standards' and AASB 1054 'Australian Additional Disclosures', as appropriate for not-for-

profit oriented entities.

Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Association is expected to be 

entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the 

Association: identifies the contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; 

determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable consideration and the time value of 

money; allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-

alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and recognises revenue when or as each 

performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to the customer of the goods or services 

promised.

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 

management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Association's accounting policies. The areas 

involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 

the financial statements, are disclosed below.
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 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 1- STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

Property, Plant and Equipment

CLASS OF FIXED ASSET

Plant and Equipment 0- 7 years

As a Public Benevolent Institution for the purposes of Subdivision 30-B of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997, the 

Association is exempt from income tax.

Volunteer services

The Association has elected not to recognise volunteer services as either revenue or other form of contribution 

received. As such, any related consumption or capitalisation of such resources received is also not recognised.

Income Tax

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 

reporting date.

Other revenue

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.

Freehold land and buildings are carried at their fair value (being the amount for which an asset could be exchanged 

between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction), based on periodic, but at least triennial, 

valuations by external independent valuers, less accumulated depreciation for buildings.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to a revaluation reserve in 

equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are recognised against revaluation reserve 

directly in equity; all other decreases are recognised in profit or loss.

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost 

includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit 

to the Association. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or 

loss.

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed annually by the Association to ensure it is not in 

excess of the recoverable amount from those assets.  The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the 

expected net cash flows that will be received from the assets’ employment and subsequent disposal.  The expected 

net cash flows have not been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and 

equipment (excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows:

Donations

Donations are recognised at the time the pledge is made.

Grants

Grant revenue is recognised in profit or loss when the Association satisfies the performance obligations stated 

within the funding agreements.

If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before the Association is eligible to retain the 

contribution, the grant will be recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability until those conditions are 

satisfied.

Interest

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of 

calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using 

the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 

expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Sales revenue

Events, fundraising and raffles are recognised when received or receivable.

8



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 1- STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

Impairment of Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Contract assets

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Employee Benefits

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, 

highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses.

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Association prior to the end of the 

financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not 

discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Contract assets are recognised when the Association has transferred goods or services to the customer but where 

the Association is yet to establish an unconditional right to consideration. Contract assets are treated as financial 

assets for impairment purposes.

Defined contribution superannuation expense

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Other long-term employee benefits

The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date 

are measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by 

employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future 

wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are 

discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and 

currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's 

carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use 

is the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to 

the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are 

grouped together to form a cash-generating unit.

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Association prior to the end of the 

financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not 

discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Short-term employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to 

be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 

liabilities are settled.

9



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 1- STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted

Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

Comparative Figures

Where required by Accounting Standards comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in

presentation for the current financial year.

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and 

estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its 

judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including 

expectations of future events, management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting 

accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are discussed below.

Employee benefits provision

As discussed in note 1, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from the 

reporting date are recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in 

respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition 

rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been taken into account.

Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic

Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, or 

may have, on the Association based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products 

and services offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the Association operates. 

Other than as addressed in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon 

the financial statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the 

Association unfavourably as at the reporting date or subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) 

pandemic.

Estimation of useful lives of assets

The Association determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 

property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result 

of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the 

useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been 

abandoned or sold will be written off or written down.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is 

not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset 

or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 

recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement 

of financial position.

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 

mandatory, have not been early adopted by the Association for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2021. 

The Association has not yet assessed the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and 

Interpretations.
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 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 2- REVENUE 2021 2020

$ $

Revenue from contracts with customers

    Pharmaceutical & Sponsorships 26,384                 122,980              

    Projects income 321,782               179,625              

348,166               302,605              

 Other revenue

    Grant Income 781,031               705,958              

 Donations 1,329                   775                     

    Other Income 50,347                 63,076                

832,707               769,809              
Total Revenue 1,180,873            1,072,414           

NOTE 3- EXPENSES

Surplus before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Donation 7,500                   1,208                  

Interest paid 47                        1,782                  

NOTE 4- REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided,

the auditor of the Association:

Auditing the Financial Report 

Portman Newton 7,080                   6,800                  

7,080                   6,800                  

NOTE 5- CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank 354,194               417,569              
Term deposit 822,054               220,878              
Cash on hand 500                      500                     

1,176,748            638,947              

NOTE 6- TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivable 6,843                   52,040                
Other debtors -                           18,500                
Accured income -                           6,481                  
BAS receivable -                           3,005                  

6,843                   80,026                

NOTE 7- OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments 14,730                 10,646                
Key deposits 655                      655                     

15,385                 11,301                
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 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 8 -PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 2021 2020
$ $

Buildings - independent valuation 2021 1,155,000 909,091              

Plant & Equipment - at cost 169,379 158,164              

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (149,206)              (139,072)             

20,173                 19,092                

Total property, plant & equipment 1,175,173            928,183              

NOTE 9 -TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Unsecured Liabilities

Trade creditors 21,031                 47,682                

Accrued charges 15,483                 12,564                

PAYG withholding 7,627                   6,482                  

Superannuation payable -                           2,438                  

GST Liabilities 1,497                   -                          

Other payables 10,508                 5,379                  

56,146                 74,545                

NOTE 10 -FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Current

Secured Liabilities

Bank loan -                           27,607                

Non-Current

Secured Liabilities

Bank loan -                           -                          

Total Bank Loan 
-                           27,607                

NOTE 11 -PROVISIONS

Current

Provision for Annual Leave 48,393 52,183                

Provision for Long Service Leave 51,829 45,782                

100,222               97,965                

Non-Current

Provision for Long Service Leave 7,070 2,112                  

The buildings held by the Association were valued by independent valuer Meadow Real Estate Pty Ltd, 

Mr Adrian Staltari associate member of Australian Property Institute member number 69020 dated 19 

August 2021. The fair value of the buildings was determined to be $1,155,000. 

12



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 12 -CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Current  

Contract liabilities 678,617 408,988              

678,617               408,988              

NOTE 13 -COMMITMENTS

A. 

Payable – minimum lease payments:

not later than 12 months                     1,980                    1,980 

between 12 months and five years                        165                    2,310 

later than five years -                       -                      
2,145                                      4,290 

B.

Payable

not later than 12 months -                       27,607                

between 12 months and five years -                       -                      

later than five years -                       -                      
-                           27,607                

NOTE 14 -EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

Operating Lease Commitments

The Association has elected to use the exception to lease accounting for short-term leases and leases 

of low value assets, and the lease expense relating to these leases are recognised in the statement of 

profit or loss on a straight line basis.

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2021 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 

affect the Association's operations, the results of those operations, or the Association's state of affairs in future 

financial years.

The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while it has been financially positive for the 

Association up to 30 June 2021, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the 

reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by the Australian 

Government and other countries, such as maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions 

and any economic stimulus that may be provided.

Mortgage Repayments expenditure contracted 

Operating lease expenditure contracted for at balance date that is not cancellable and is not provided for 

in the accounts:
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 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) 

INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

STATEMENT BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board and is signed for and on behalf of the Board 
by:

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of National Association of People With HIV Australia (NAPWHA) 
Incorporated, the directors have determined that the Association is not a reporting entity and that this special 
purpose financial report should be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 1 to the 
financial statements.

The financial statements and notes complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent 
described in Note 1 and give a true and fair view of the financial position of the registered entity as at 
30 June 2021 and of its performance for the year ended on that date.

There are reasonable grounds to believe that the registered entity is able to pay all of its debts, as and
when they become due and payable.

1.

3.

2. This declaration is signed in accordance with subs 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Regulation 2013.

14

Sarah Feagan Chris Howard

Acting President Treasurer

Dated this 2nd day of November 2021
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Portman Newton

In accordance with the requirements of section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and Not for Profits
Commission Act 2012, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the financial year 
ended 30 June 2021 there have been:

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION TO THE MEMBERS OF

1.  No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and Not
for Profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 

2. no contravention of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

15

   

Wei Chong CA

Signed this 2nd day of November 2021, in Sydney.
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Level 25, 88 Phillip Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Ph: 02 9090 4772
www.portmannewton.com

Opinion: ABN 51 131 458 118

Basis for Opinion

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF

ABN 79 052 437 899

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH 

HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED

We have audited the financial report of National Association of People With
HIV Australia (NAPWHA) Incorporated,which comprises the statement of financial 

position as at 30 June 2021, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 

ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information, and and the statement by members of the Board. 

In our opinion the accompanying financial report presents fairly, in all material respects gives a true and fair view of the 
Associations Incorporation Act 1991 (ACT), the financial position of the association as at 30 June 2021 and its financial 
performance for the year then ended in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 1 to the financial 
statements and the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 1991 (ACT) and Div 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the association in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 

Report on the Financial Report

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 16

Responsibilities of The Members of the Board for the Financial Report 

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report has 
been prepared to assist the association to meet the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 1991 (ACT) and 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012. As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for 
another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting

The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with the financial 
reporting requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 1991 (ACT), and Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012 and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation and 
fair presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the association’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Board either intends to liquidate the association or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so.

independent of the association in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 16



Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
association’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Board.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the association’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 17

Sydney
Date : 02-Nov-21

Wei Chong CA

Portman Newton

are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the association to cease to continue as a going 
concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 17
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Secretary/Treasurer – Chris Howard 

Directors – Michael Brown, Aaron Cogle (ex-officio), Diane 
Lloyd, Stephen Lunny, Danny Ryding, Steve Spencer 
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POSITIVE ASIAN NETWORK 
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POSITIVE LATIN AMERICAN 
NETWORK (PLAN Latinx)
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NAPWHA Community Advocate – Cristian Cortes

Reference Group – Oscar Sanchez

With thanks to Community Conversations participants
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NETWORK (HetMAN) 
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NAPWHA Community Advocate – Anth McCarthy

Reference Group – Nathan Butler

With thanks to the focus group participants
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https://napwha.org.au/about-us/hetman


65Annual Report  |  2020 - 2021

NAPWHA SECRETARIAT
Executive Director – Aaron Cogle 

Deputy Director – Adrian Ogier 

Senior Research Manager – Dr John Rule 

Senior Project Officer – Brent Clifton

Learning Projects Officer – Daniel Reeders 

Communications & Community Engagement – 
Saysana Sirimanotham 

Social Media & Community Engagement – Charlie 
Tredway 

Campaigns & Community Engagement – Eloise 
Monteiro

Community Advocate – Jimmy Yu Hsiang Chen

Administration Officer – Gladys Jimenez 
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OFFICERS
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Project Coordinator – Daniel Reeders

Contributors – Brent Allan (QThink), Luke Caspar 
(QPP), Daniel Cordner, Neil Fraser (PLNSW), Dr Virginia 
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Saysana Sirimanotham (NAPWHA), Linda Starke (ASHM), 
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Sarah Feagan 
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John Rule 
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Robert Mitchell 
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Daniel Reeders 
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COMMITTEE (NHSTAC) 

Saysana Sirimanotham 
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Jane Costello, Kath Leane, Saysana Sirimanotham 
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SURVEILLANCE SUBCOMMITTEE (BBVSS)

Aaron Cogle  

CENTRE FOR SOCIAL RESEARCH IN HEALTH 
SCIENTIFIC ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Aaron Cogle  

CENTRE FOR SOCIAL RESEARCH IN HEALTH 
STIGMA INDICATOR STEERING COMMITTEE

John Rule  

CONTROL AND ELIMINATION WITHIN 
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(CEASE)

John Rule  

DELANEY AIDS RESEARCH ENTERPRISE 
(DARE) COMMUNITY ADVISORY BOARD

Cipri Martinez  

HIV CURE COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIP 
GROUP

Cipri Martinez  

INTERNATIONAL NETWORK FOR STRATEGIC 
INITIATIVES IN GLOBAL HIV TRIALS 
(INSIGHT) COMMUNITY ADVISORY BOARD

John Rule  

KIRBY AUSTRALIAN HIV OBSERVATIONAL 
DATABASE (AHOD) STEERING COMMITTEE

Aaron Cogle  

KIRBY ANNUAL SURVEILLANCE REPORTS 
HIV AND STI CASCADES REFERENCE 
COMMITTEE

Aaron Cogle 

KIRBY PREDICTORS OF ADHERENCE TO ART 
(PAART) STUDY

John Rule  

MINISTERIAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON 
BLOOD BORNE VIRUSES AND SEXUALLY 
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Aaron Cogle 

VIIV PHARMACEUTICALS ADVISORY BOARD

Aaron Cogle/Bill Whittaker 
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SPONSORSGILEAD HIV ADVISORY COUNCIL 
SELECTION PANEL

Robert Mitchell 

WORLD AIDS DAY –COMMONWEALTH 
COORDINATION COMMITTEE

Charlie Tredway  

HPV WORKING GROUP AND ANAL 
CANCER WORKING GROUP

Adrian Ogier/John Rule

NAPWHA WEBSITES 
MAINTENANCE
Erin Costigan, Kristin Sinclair (Webgirl Services), Saysana 
Sirimanotham, Miranda Smith 
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goodqualityoflife.com.au

hivcure.com.au 
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